
Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 10 October 2018
3pm
Warspite Room, Council House

Members:
Councillor Ball, Chair
Councillor Winter, Vice Chair
Councillors Darcy, Derrick, Kelly, Singh, R Smith, Kate Taylor and Vincent.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 
Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 
recording for the webcast.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - Get Involved

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Oversight and Governance
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Helen Prendergast, 
Democratic Support Officer
T 01752  668000
E helen.prendergast@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk
Published 02 October 2018

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

1. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Councillors.

2. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 6)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting held on 8 August 2018.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

5. Street Services Key Performance Indicators including an 
Update on Pledges 90, 93 and 94 and Tree Maintenance 
including an Update on Pledge 98  

(Pages 7 - 20)

6. Corporate Plan 2018-22 - Quarter One 2018/19 Update  (Pages 21 - 66)

7. Finance Monthly Report - Month 4  (Pages 67 - 76)

8. Work Programme  (Pages 77 - 78)

9. Tracking Decisions  (Pages 79 - 80)



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 8 August 2018

Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 8 August 2018

PRESENT:

Councillor Ball, in the Chair.
Councillor Winter, Vice Chair.
Councillors Darcy, Derrick, Mrs Johnson (substitute for Councillor Rebecca Smith), 
Kelly, Singh, Kate Taylor and Vincent.

Apology for absence: Councillor Rebecca Smith. 

Also in attendance: Andrew Hardingham (Strategic Director for Transformation 
and Change); Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance); Councillor 
Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Housing and Co-operative Development), Helen 
Prendergast (Democratic Advisor), Emma Rose (Strategic Development Manager) 
and Simon Walshe (Strategic Development Manager).

The meeting started at 3.00 pm and finished at 5.20 pm.

Note: At a future meeting, the Panel will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so 
they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 
whether these minutes have been amended.

8. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest made by Councillors in accordance with the 
code of conduct.

9. Minutes  

The committee agreed that the minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2018 were a 
correct record, subject to the following amendment (minute 5c refers) ‘whether the 
use of Section 106 agreements to generate new resources and support the revenue 
budget would continue’. (Councillor Evans OBE stated that Section 106 monies and 
capital receipts would not be used to defray any deficit in the revenue budget).

10. Chair's Urgent Business  

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business.

11. Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report 2018/19 - Quarter 1  

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) and Andrew Hardingham (Strategic 
Director for Transformation and Change) submitted the capital and revenue 
monitoring report 2018/19 – quarter 1 (end of June 2018). 



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 8 August 2018

The report detailed how the Council was delivering against its financial measures 
using its capital and revenue resources, to approve relevant budget variations and 
virements and report new schemes approved in the capital programme.

The following key areas of the report were highlighted –
 

● the estimated revenue overspend was £2.882m; the overall forecast 
net spend equated to £188.428m against a budget of £185.556m 
which was a variance of 1.55%;

● this needed to be read within the context of needing to deliver in 
excess of £11m of savings in 2018/19 on the back of balancing the 
2017/18 revenue budget where £18m of net revenue reductions 
were successfully delivered;

● additional management solutions and escalated actions to deliver 
further savings from the Council’s transformation programme would 
be brought to the table over the coming months, in order to 
address the in-year forecasted overspend;

● the Council was not in the same dire financial position as other local 
authorities, such as Northampton County Council where only 
statutory services were being delivered; the Council had been pro-
active in previous years and had been efficient in growing its Council 
Tax base (by releasing land for housing) and Business rates.

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) the impact on the Council’s budget of an additional pressure of 
£625,000 per year, due to the Bank of England’s rise of 0.25% in the 
base rate;

(b) the impact on the Council’s budget in the longer term, due to the 
Bank of England’s warning  that the base rate would increase 
further;

(c) the lack of regular financial reporting (the quarter one report 
covered the months of April, May and June);

(d) the key areas where savings had been achieved, in order to reduce 
the deficit to £2.882;



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 8 August 2018

(e) how confident was the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Section 
151 Officer, that the Council had sufficient reserves to avoid the 
severe financial difficulties faced by other local authorities and how 
far away was it from a deep financial situation;

(f) whether investment would continue within the city boundary in 
order to further generate income;

(g) the level of investment and the timescale relating to Pledge 4 of the 
administration’s manifesto to launch a plan for the revival of district 
shopping centres on Mutley Plain, Marlborough Street (Devonport) 
and Ernesettle shops.

The committee noted the report.

12. Debt Recovery and Enforcement  

Councillor Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Housing and co-operative 
Development), Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance), Andrew 
Hardingham (Strategic Director for Transformation and Change), Emma Rose 
(Strategic Development Manager) and Simon Walshe (Strategic Development 
Manager) presented the debt recovery and enforcement briefing paper.

 The report outlined the following key areas –

● local context;
● debt types;
● general income – arrears and bad debt provision (BDP);
● penalty charge notices (parking fines);
● NDR and BID;
● Non Domestic Rates – arrears and bad debt provision (BDP);
● housing benefit overpayments;
● housing benefit overpayments – arrears and bad debt provision 

(BDP);
● Council Tax;
● Council Tax – arrears and bad debt provision (BDP).

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) concern regarding the high levels of debt across each debt type;

(b) how the Council would make a clear public commitment to reduce 
bailiff use over time, as recommended by the Money Advice Trust;

(c) what was the current enforcement process adopted by the Council;



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 8 August 2018

(d) what was split between customers that could not pay and those that 
would not pay;

(e) whether the Council would be replicating the scheme that and been 
adopted by the London Borough of Lambeth to provide council tax 
clinics, in relation to the introduction of an exemption from bailiff 
action for Council Tax Support recipients;

(f) whether the Council had reviewed its processes, in light of a recent 
unfortunately incident whereby Plymouth Community Homes had 
sent a debt collection notice to a tenant who had passed away;

(g) what was the formal definition used to determine which customer 
could not pay and those that won’t pay;

(h) what process was in place to robustly challenge landlords that 
owned houses that were not registered as receiving Council Tax;

(i) whether the Council had an early intervention policy to prevent 
customers from getting into financial difficulties;

(j) the challenges of actively and publicly pursuing individuals who owed 
high levels of debt, whilst preventing those individuals facing financial 
difficulties from engaging with the Council;

(k) the legal number of attachment of earnings that an individual could 
have at any one time;

(l) the rationale behind the Council’s appointment of three 
enforcement agencies, how they were managed and whether there 
were benefits in appointing one agency;

(m) what action was being taken to recover the high level of debt owed 
specifically by five individuals.

The Committee agreed that the following recommendations are submitted to 
Cabinet for consideration –

(1) a feasibility study is commissioned in order to create a corporate 
approach to maximise debt recovery, including such areas as high 
value debt;



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 8 August 2018

(2) efforts are made to identify the forms of debt (excluding those who 
have been identified as unable to pay) that are most likely to lead to 
high recovery rates (in volume and value), in order that resources 
can be prioritised to focus on the areas identified;

(3) monitor the ethical debt recovery pilot schemes being undertaken 
in other local authorities and provide an update report in 12 
months’ time;

(4) investigate the feasibility of providing debt collection in-house.

(Councillor Darcy left the room and was not present for the remainder of the 
meeting)

13. Work Programme  

The Committee noted its work programme for 2018/19.

14. Tracking Decisions  

The Committee noted the progress of its decisions.





August 2018

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Street Services Key Performance Indicators - Including an 
Update on Pledges 90, 93 and 94 and Tree Maintenance 
(Including an Update on Pledge 98)

 

Committee: Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee

Date: 10 October 2018

Cabinet Member: Councillor Dann (Cabinet Member for Environment and Street 
Scene)

CMT Member: Anthony Payne (Strategic Director for Place)

Author: Hannah Daw (Performance Advisor) 

Contact details T:  01752 307335
E: Hannah.daw@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref: Street Services Performance Briefing

Key Decision: No

Part: I 

Purpose of the report:

The Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee have requested 
an update on waste and disposal. The information in this briefing relates to:

1. Street Services key performance indicator information
2. Corporate performance indicator information
3. Update on current position with Pledges 90, 93, 94 and 98
4. Update on Plan for Trees including Pledge 98

The Corporate Plan:

This report provides key performance information which supports the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan. Specifically this is relation to delivering the ‘Growing City’ priority and particularly in relation to 
‘A Clean and Tidy City’ and ‘A green and sustainable city that cares about the environment’. 

Street services, in particular and for the purpose of this report, Street Scene and Waste Services 
contributes to the council’s values through: 

Being Democratic: Plymouth is a place where people can inform our service about the 
improvements and changes that need to be made in their area, the services they receive and facilities 
they use that are important to them.

Being Responsible: The service continually seeks to meet our customers’ expectations and when we 
do not, we take responsibility for our actions, ensure any impact is minimised and work with other 
services and our contractors to do the same.

Being Fair: The service operates in an open and transparent way and champion’s fairness to ensure 
everyone receives the level of service they need.



August 2018

Being Co-operative: We work together with other service, contractors and the community to help 
the city become a cleaner, greener and more vibrant place to live.

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land:

N/A  

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

N/A 

Equality and Diversity

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No 

This report presents performance information only.

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
N/A

Published work / information:

N/A 

Background papers:

N/A

Exemption Paragraph NumberTitle Part 1 Part II
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

  
Sign off:  N/A

Fin Leg Mon 
Off

HR Assets IT Strat 
Proc

Originating SMT Member Lou Hayward (Strategic Director for Street Services
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes
 



Version 1

28th October 2018 OFFICIAL: 

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
2017/18 and 2018/19 comparisons



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 2 of 12
OFFICIAL:

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee have requested an 
update on waste and disposal. The information in this briefing relates to:

1. Street Services key performance indicator information
2. Corporate performance indicator information
3. Update on current position with Pledges 90, 93, 94 and 98
4. Update on plan for trees including Pledge 98

A Street Services Modernisation Board has been set up to drive the next phase of the modernisation 
of waste management and street scene services to create a seamless, sustainable system in 
partnership with our residents. 

One of the first key deliverable outcomes is the Street Services Information Management System 
(SSIMS) which through a combination of technology, handheld devices and better data management 
will help transform how frontline teams work; digitising processes including task management. Taking 
this further, we have developed this project to ensure that the information obtained from SSIMS will 
be used to improve the customer experience of our front line services.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 3 of 12
OFFICIAL:

1. Street Service Key Performance Indicators (KPI)
The information below relates to the Key Performance Indicators that are monitored within Street 
Services.

1.1 Calls received relating to Waste Services (Chart 1)

In May 2017 there was an increase in the number of calls received at the contact centre in relation to 
a range of Waste Services. Call numbers rose by approximately 2500 in May 2017.
Increased resources were allocated to deal with the initial expected increase in calls. During the 
remainder of 2017 and into 2018 the volume of calls reduced as arrangements for waste collection 
embedded. A refuse collection vehicle fire in July 2018 resulted in an increase in the number of bins 
not collected on the scheduled day and this impacted on the number of calls made by customers.

April May June July August
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

10000

Calls Received (2018) Calls Received (2017)

Chart 1 - Total number of calls received about Waste Services
Financial year to date 2017 and 2018

1.2 Missed Bins (Charts 2 and 3)

N.B. It is important to note that the data for missed bins will not correlate with the number of calls regarding missed 
bins as there may be multiple calls about the same bin or the bin is contaminated and therefore not classified as missed. 

In 2017 crews visited 118,519 households to collect household waste. In 2018 this has increased by 
0.6% to 119,194 households. 

A decrease can be noted in July 2017, this is attributed to a temporary change in recording processes. 
This was swiftly rectified to enable the correct recording of reported missed bins to aide 
transparency.

The percentage of household bins collected on the day of collection in August 2018 was 98.94% this is 
0.02 percentage points below the same month in the previous year.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 4 of 12
OFFICIAL:

APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUG
95.0%

95.5%

96.0%

96.5%

97.0%

97.5%

98.0%

98.5%

99.0%

99.5%

100.0%

% of Bins collected (2018) % of Bins collected (2017)

Chart 2 - % of household bins collected on day of collection
Financial year to date 2017 and 2018

Plymouth City Council has agreed a service standard for collecting bins missed within two working 
days. In July 2018, a rise can be noted which also exceeds numbers reported in July 2017. This is 
attributed to the refuse collection vehicle fires. By August 2018, 432 missed bins were not collected 
within two working days compared to 720 missed bins not collected in August 2017. 

95 106

419

316
254

400

575

432

41
70 83

424

509

666

170

720

JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUG
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Number of Bins NOT collected within PCC SLA (2018) Number of Bins NOT collected within PCC SLA (2017)

Chart 3 - Number of bins not collected within Plymouth City Council's two working days 
service standard  - year to date 2017 and 2018

The Association for Public Sector Excellence (APSE) are able to provide local authorities with valuable 
benchmarking information. In relation to missed bins, the definition used by APSE for benchmarking is 
‘Missed bins not collected within three working days’.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 5 of 12
OFFICIAL:

1.3 Household Waste/Recycling Tonnages (Chart 4)
This KPI relates to the total waste/recycling collected from brown and green containers, garden waste 
collections, green banks, the Household Waste Recycling Centres and the bulky waste collections. 
The total tonnage of household waste collected in July 2018 is 8720.37 tonnes. This is lower than the 
tonnages collected within the previous year.

Apr May June July
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

2018/19 Household waste arising per capita (tonnages) 2017/18 Household waste arising per capita (tonnages)

Chart 4 - Household waste/recycling waste arisings per capital (tonnages)
Financial year to date 2017/18 and 2018/19

Household Refuse tonnages (Chart 5)

This data relates to the tonnages collected from household brown bins. 200 more tonns were 
collected in July 2018 compared to August 2017. 

Apr May June July
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

2018/19 Refuse waste arising per capita (tonnages) 2017/18 Refuse waste arising per capita (tonnages)

Chart 5 - Reuse waste arisings per capital (tonnages)
Financial year to date 2017/18 and 2018/19

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 6 of 12
OFFICIAL:

Household Recycling tonnages (Chart 6)
This data includes recycling waste collected from our Household Waste Recycling Centres (HRWC) 
and the recycling (green Bin) collection rounds. 

Increases in recycling can be seen throughout 2018. Of the overal percentage of waste collected in 
August 2018, recycling makes up 30.3%. This is 2.7 percentage points better than in August 2017.

Apr May June July
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2018/19 Recycling waste arising's (tonnages) 2017/18 Recycling waste arising's (tonnages)

Chart 6 - Recycling - Waste Arising Tonnages
Financial year to date 2017/18 and 2018/19

Household Reuse tonnages (Chart 7)

Household Reuse is waste items which can refurbished or reused in a different way, for example 
electrical goods which may be refurbished and reused the majority of this is taken to our HWRC’s.

Rates for Reuse have decreased throughout 2018 compared to the previous year. This can be 
attributed to a charitable organisation, ‘Recycling Plymouth’, who worked alongside Plymouth City 
Council, not longer operating. The tonnage of reusable material is no longer being reused but is now 
recycled instead.

 

Apr May June July
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2018/19 Domestic Waste arising's (Reuse tonnages) 2017/18 Domestic Waste arising's (Reuse tonnages)

Chart 7 - Reuse Waste Arising Tonnages
Financial year to date 2017/18 and 2018/19



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 7 of 12
OFFICIAL:

Composting Garden Waste (Chart 8)

The seasonal variations and impacts experienced throughout April to July in 2018 are illustrated 
within the chart below. 

For 2018/19, it is notable within the chart that the growing season was delayed till April 2018 due to 
the cold weather in March/April 2018 and then again in July/August 2018 as the city experienced 
hotter weather than was experienced in July/August 2017. 

407 less tonnes were collected in April 2018 compared to April 2017 and 485 less tonnes were 
collected in July 2018 compared to July 2017.

Apr May June July
0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

2018/19 Household Waste composted (tonnages) 2017/18 Household Waste composted (tonnages)

Chart 8 - Composting (Garden waste) Waste Arising Tonnages
Financial year to date 2017/18 and 2018/19

1.4 Incidents of fly tipping (Chart 9)

Fly tipping reports in 2018 have been lower overall than reports received in 2017. An increase in June 
2018 is attributed to an emphasis within the Street Scene and Waste 'Back Lane’ and ‘Fly tipping’ 
Team’s on the tackling fly tipping alongside changes in how we categorise types of fly tipping so that it 
is more in line with statutory reporting requirements. This supported a renewed focus on 
enforcement activity. 

A decrease in incidents has occurred since then. The number of incidents reported in August 2018 is 
6% lower than the number of incidents report in the previous month and is now marginally lower 
than reports in 2017. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 8 of 12
OFFICIAL:

April May June July August
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2018/19 - Incidents of illegally dumped waste or 'fly tipping'
2017/18 - incidents of illegally dumped waste or 'fly tipping'

Chart 9 - Reduce the incidents of illegally dumped waste or 'fly tipping'
Financial Year to date 2017/18 and 2017/18

2. CORPORATE PLAN INDICATORS
Two key performance indicators monitored within the service are also reported as part of Plymouth 
City Councils Corporate Plan. These are around Street Cleanliness and Recycling Rates.

2.1 Street Cleanliness (Chart 10)

This key performance indicator measures the cleanliness and condition of streets using the Land Audit 
Management System (LAMS). This is a new method of measuring street cleanliness and allows us to 
compare ourselves to other members of the Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) 
performance network who use the same method. It consists of three elements: street cleanliness, 
ground maintenance conditions, and the presence of hard surface weeds. The cleanliness of our 
streets can affect residents' quality of life and has a bearing on how attractive cities are for tourists, 
businesses and residents.

The new method of measuring street cleanliness was piloted throughout June and July. We are able to 
compare our June/July pilot inspection scores with those of other APSE members, whose scores are 
based on inspections done in April/May. Plymouth’s street cleanliness combined score of 77% is above 
the average combined score for other APSE members (71%). It is important to note that by 
comparing scores from two different inspection periods we are not comparing like for like due to 
seasonal variation. We are comparing these periods because Plymouth only recently signed up to use 
the LAMS methodology. Going forward we will be able to compare our performance to other APSE 
members over the same reporting period. 

We need to ensure that the Street Services department is in receipt of the most robust 
benchmarking information, offering the greatest benefit to management teams and officers to inform 
service design. Bi-monthly inspections and results will continue to be submitted to APSE to enable 
more robust comparisons of performance with other local authorities. The remainder of inspections 
undertaken this year will contribute towards a baseline year. This will provide insight for target setting 
in March 2019 for the 2019/20 financial year.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 9 of 12
OFFICIAL:

Street 
 Cleanliness Combined Score

70%

71%

72%

73%

74%

75%

76%

77%

78%

Plymouth Other Local Authorities Combined Score

Chart 10 - Street Cleanliness



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 10 of 12
OFFICIAL:

2.2 Household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting (Chart 11)

This indicator measures the amount of household waste that is recycled, reused or composted. 
Recycling helps to protect the environment and reduces the need for extracting, refining and 
processing raw materials. It also reduces greenhouse gas emissions, which helps to tackle climate 
change. This indicator allows us to assess our success in trying to increase recycling levels. Please note 
that data within quarter three and quarter four will not include composting due to the time of year.

The overall percentage of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting has improved 
from 38.8% in quarter one 2017/18 to 40.6% in quarter one 2018/19 (we compare to the same 
quarter due to seasonal trends). This is below the National Average at 44.9% but has exceeded the 
local 2018/19 target of 39%. 

The proportion of household waste used for energy recovery is significantly higher than available 
benchmarks at 60.4%, compared with an average of 45% for local authorities in England. More than 
25% of household waste is sent for dry recycling, which again is better than the England average 
(19%). No household waste is sent directly to landfill and the household waste that does end up in a 
landfill (1.58% of total household waste) is in the form of fly ash resulting from the energy from waste 
(EFW) process.

Increasing recycling levels in Plymouth is a key delivery aim of the Plan for Waste to ensure that we 
meet the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) targets agreed with the South West Devon Waste 
Partnership. Back office systems and processes require updating and modernisation so that we can 
improve the delivery of frontline services for customers. The risk of non-delivery of the Plan for 
Waste is currently RAG-rated as amber on the strategic risk register, representing a medium risk to 
the Council.

A Modernisation Plan is in place across the Street Scene and Waste Department. It focuses on 
improving the back office systems and processes required for work schedules by introducing the 
Street Services Information Management System (SSIMS). This project is being further developed to 
be able to provide the service with more intelligence about where we can tackle recycling within the 
city. 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2017/18 2018/19

Chart 11 - % of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 11 of 12
OFFICIAL:

3. PLEDGES
The service is responsible for delivering a number of Plymouth City Council pledges. The 
Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee have requested an 
update on the following particular pledges:

Pledge 90 – We will review the current policy of charging for bulky waste collections and 
re-introduce community skips where practical. We will increase the use of community 
bins to cut down the number of wheelie bins in some residential streets.

a) We will review the current policy of charging for bulky waste collections and re-introduce 
community skips where practical.

This sub pledge is expected to be delivered by December 2019. 

Update: Implementation of Street Services Information Management System (SSIMS) in this area of 
operations will furnish us with more functional data and intelligence which will allow us to improve 
the service and deliver this pledge. 

b) We will increase the use of community bins to cut down the number of wheelie bins in some 
residential streets.

This sub pledge is expected to be delivered by March 2019.

Update: We are currently trialling a selection of three bin lid types on communal recycling bins to aid 
in reducing contamination. The results will assist in the future management of community bins and 
make their use more favourable.

Pledge 93 – We will review all options, including trialling food waste collection and 
reintroducing home composting

This pledge is expected to be delivered by March 2020.

Update: Information gathering is currently underway: a  21 September 2018 Devon Food Waste 
Conference and APSE Waste Management, Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Advisory Group 
on 26th September 2018. Policy research in this area is also underway. 

Pledge 94 – We will raise recycling rates and tackle fly tipping through a combination of 
positive campaigning and enforcement.

This pledge is expected to be delivered by September 2019.

Update: Campaigning and enforcement options are being developed alongside the Street Services 
Information Management System (SSIMS) project work which is being monitored through the Street 
Services Modernisation Board.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

STREET SERVICES KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Page 12 of 12
OFFICIAL:

4. UPDATE ON PLAN FOR TREES AND PLEDGE 98

Pledge 98 – We will tackle the backlog in tree maintenance across the city, with 
residents’ views given more consideration.

This pledge is expected to be delivered by March 2019.

Update: The engagement for the Plan for Trees ended on the 16 September 2018. The results will 
inform a delivery plan that will accompany the Plan for Trees and an options appraisal for the winter 
works programme for the PCC estate. The delivery plan will be developed before the end of the year.



OFFICIAL

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Corporate Plan 2018-22 - Quarter One 2018/19 update

Committee: Cabinet  

Date: 11 September 2018

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry

CMT Member: Giles Perritt, Assistant Chief Executive

Author: Andrew Loton, Senior Performance Advisor

Contact details: Andrew.loton@plymouth.gov.uk

Key Decision: N/A

Part:  1

________________________________________________________________

Purpose of the report:

This report provides analysis of quarter one (May to July) performance against the Council’s key 
performance indicators. The report is in a new format for the Corporate Plan 2018-22 to help improve 
transparency and clarity.  The report provides a detailed performance update against the Corporate Plan 
priorities.  

We have comprehensively reviewed all KPI’s with a view to embedding an outcome-focussed 
performance and learning culture which places customers at the heart of all that we do. In that vein, over 
half of the KPI’s identified for the 2018-22 Corporate Plan are new, with a specific focus on the Council’s 
contribution to the City and our impact on residents and businesses. 

Our aim is ultimately to achieve a ‘golden thread’ from the Corporate Plan and its KPI’s, through to 
service and team level business plans, and ultimately to individual objectives. All service-level business 
plans are in the process of being updated to reflect the new Corporate Plan and a refresh of service-level 
balanced scorecards (indicators) will take place in support of that. 

______________________________________________________________________________
The Corporate Plan 2018-22

This report outlines progress against the ambitions as set out in the Council’s new Corporate Plan
2018-22.

Implications for Medium Term Financial Strategy and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land:

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is a core component of the council's strategic framework and 
has a vital role to play in translating the council's ambition and priorities set out in the Corporate 
Plan 2018-22-19 and the city’s ambition in the Plymouth Plan, into action.  

The current Medium Term Financial Strategy focuses on taking a view out to 2019/20 of the range of 
major issues affecting the resources of Plymouth City Council. 

__________________________________________________________________________



OFFICIAL

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

The Corporate Plan complements the Council’s existing policy framework with respect to the above. 

Equality and Diversity:

Where potential equality and diversity implications are identified from the implementation of any new 
activities arising from the Corporate Plan, assessments will be undertaken in line with the Council’s 
policies.

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

That Cabinet:
 note the revised set of key performance indicators against the new Corporate Plan  
 discuss and note the Corporate Plan Quarter One Performance Report
 note that further work on indicators relating to the priorities for Quality jobs and valuable skills, 

Economic growth that benefits as many people as possible and A vibrant cultural offer is still 
underway to further enrich the analysis, which will be available from Quarter Two. 

Alternative options considered and rejected:

None:- This report forms part of the Council’s agreed performance management framework.

Published work / information:

Background papers:
Exemption Paragraph NumberTitle Part 1 Part II

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
Corporate Plan 2018-22

Sign off:  
Fin djn.18

.19.72
Leg lt/311

11/28
08

Mon 
Off

lt/311
11/28
08

HR Assets IT Strat 
Proc

Originating SMT Member: Giles Perritt
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes



 

Corporate Plan 2018-22 - Quarter One 2018/19 update OFFICIAL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19 
Performance and Risk Team, Plymouth City Council

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 2 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Corporate Plan 

The Plymouth City Council 
Corporate Plan 2018-2022 sets 
out our mission of ‘making 
Plymouth a fairer city, where 
everyone does their bit’. It was 
approved by Council in June 
2018. 

The Corporate Plan priorities 
are delivered through specific 
programmes and projects 
which are coordinated and 
resourced through cross-
cutting strategic plans (‘Plans 
for…’), capital investment and 
directorate business plans. 

The key performance 
indicators (KPI’s) and their 
associated targets detailed in 
this report for quarter one 
2018/19 (April to June), tell us 
how we doing in delivering 
what we have set out to 
achieve in the Corporate Plan.   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 3 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide a risk-informed analysis of performance against the priorities of the Corporate Plan 2018-
2022. The priorities are grouped under ‘A Growing City’ and ‘A Caring Council’, and the outcomes for ‘How We Will Deliver’ – the 
enablers of the Corporate Plan – are also reported on. 

Trend (RAG) Colour Scheme 

A trend rating is provided to give a visual indication of whether the figure is improving or declining based on the two latest periods for 
which information is available, e.g. quarter two 2018/19 compared with quarter one 2018/19, or for annual indicators 2018/19 
compared with 2017/18. 

� Indicators highlighted green: improved on the previous value or is on an expected trend 
� Indicators highlighted amber: within 15% of the previous value (slight decline) 
� Indicators highlighted red: declined by more than 15% on the previous value 
� Indicators not highlighted have stayed the same, have no trend, or the most recent value is not comparable with previous values 

(for example, a change in methodology). 

Target (RAG) Colour Scheme 

� Indicators highlighted green show where Plymouth is better than target 
� Indicators highlighted amber show where Plymouth is within 15% of target 
� Indicators highlighted red show where Plymouth is more than 15% worse than target 
� Indicators not highlighted or ‘N/A’ show where no in year data is available to compare against target, or no target has been set. 

Structure of this Report 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 4 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

1,455 

765 

Gross 
additional 
homes 
delivered 

75.2% 

74.6% 

Employment 
rate 

90.1% 

90.0% 

Young 
people in 

Education, 
Employment 

or Training 

 

 

Improvements have been seen under ‘A Growing City’ in quarter one (or based on latest available data). ‘A Growing City’ consists of seven priorities, each 
with one or two key performance indicators (KPIs) and performance for all indicators is summarised below. More detail on each KPI given in the following 
pages.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A Growing City – Quarter One Summary 

77% 

Cleanliness 
Index inspected 
areas judged as 

acceptable 

40.6% 

38.8% 

Household 
waste sent 

for 
recycling, 
reuse or 

composting 

5,116,000 

4,638,733 

Visitor 
numbers 

71.5% 

Residents’ 
view of 

Plymouth’s 
offer 

43% 

40% 

Public 
satisfaction 
with traffic 

flow 

97.8% 

97.6% 

Public 
satisfaction 

with the 
condition 
of roads 

A clean and 
tidy city (p. 5) 

A green sustainable city 
that cares about the 
environment (p. 14) 

An efficient transport 
network (p. 6) 

A broad range 
of homes (p. 8) 

Economic growth that benefits 

as many people as possible (p. 9) 

Quality jobs 
and valuable 
skills (p. 10) 

A vibrant cultural 
offer (p. 12) 

26.2% 

21.9% 

Spend on 
small and 
medium 

enterprises 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 5 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 
 

What we measure: The cleanliness and condition of streets using the Land Audit Management System (LAMS). This is a new method of measuring 
street cleanliness and allows us to compare ourselves to other members of the Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) performance network who 
use the same method. It consists of three elements: street cleanliness, ground maintenance conditions, and the presence of hard surface weeds.  

Why we measure it: The cleanliness of our streets can affect residents' quality of life and has a bearing on how attractive cities are for tourists, 
businesses and residents.  

  

What’s working well? We are able to compare our June/July pilot inspection scores with those of other APSE members, whose scores are based on 
inspections done in April/May. Plymouth’s street cleanliness combined score of 77% is above the average combined score for other APSE members (71%). It 
is important to note that by comparing scores from two different inspection periods we are not comparing like for like due to seasonal variation. We are 
comparing these periods because Plymouth only recently signed up to use the LAMS methodology. Going forward we will be able to compare our 
performance to other APSE members over the same reporting period.  

What are we worried about? We need to ensure that the Street Services department is in receipt of the most robust benchmarking information, 
offering the greatest benefit to management teams and officers to inform service design. 

What needs to happen? Bi-monthly inspections and results will be submitted to APSE to enable more robust comparisons of performance with other 
local authorities. 

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

Street

Cleanliness Combined Score

Street Cleanliness

Plymouth Other Local Authorities Combined Score

How have we done? 77% 

77% of the inspections undertaken in June and July resulted in 
achieving an acceptable standard based on the LAMS 
assessment criteria. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

The remainder of inspections undertaken this year will 
contribute towards a baseline year. This will provide insight 
for target setting in March 2019 for the 2019/20 financial year. 

Target rating: N/A 

A clean and tidy city 
Cleanliness Index 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 6 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

�  
 
 

What we measure: Public satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion on Plymouth’s roads, collected via the National Highways and Transport (NHT) 
Network annual survey. 

Why we measure it: Traffic congestion can impact negatively on: the economic health of the city through increased non-productive activity; the 
environment by increasing air pollution and carbon dioxide emissions; and on individuals who can suffer from delays and late arrival for employment, 
meetings, and education. As we undertake a lot of work to deliver a ‘free flowing’ city, measuring people’s perception of traffic flow is important.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The 2017 NHT Survey reports that while satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion sits below the national average, 
Plymouth’s overall satisfaction with traffic management (59%) is higher than the NHT average (56%). Satisfaction with advanced warning of road works (64%) 
and efforts to minimise nuisance to residents (52%) are both higher than the NHT averages (61% and 51% respectively). 67% of residents agreed that there 
were good park and ride schemes in the city, which is also higher than the NHT average (50%). Traffic signals availability is currently running at 99% as at June 
2018. 

What are we worried about? Plymouth residents’ satisfaction with waiting times at permanent traffic lights (61%) sits below the NHT average of 
64%. There is currently an amber risk on the operational risk register in relation to unforeseen downtime of the Highways Information Management System 
(HIMS), representing a medium risk to the Council. 

What needs to happen? We need to ensure that HIMS is kept up to date with information entered accurately and in a timely manner.  

An efficient transport network 
Public satisfaction with traffic flow  

How have we done? 40% 

Decline of 3 percentage points from the previous survey in 
2016, which is a change of 7.0%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2017: 44% 

The decline now puts performance at 4 percentage points 
(9.1%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2014 2015 2016 2017

Public satisfaction with traffic levels and congestion

2017 NHT average 2017 Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 7 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: Public satisfaction with the condition of principal roads (A roads) in the city, collected via the National Highways and Transport 
(NHT) Network annual survey. 

Why we measure it: We undertake a lot of work to maintain and improve the condition of our roads in the city. It is therefore important for us to 
know how the condition of roads is perceived by members of the public. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? The 2017 NHT Survey highlighted that Plymouth’s overall satisfaction with the condition of principal roads is on par with the 
NHT average (97%) and that satisfaction with street lighting at 70% is higher than the NHT average (66%). Satisfaction with cold weather gritting shows that 
Plymouth residents are more satisfied (66%) than those living within our statistical neighbouring authorities (63%). 
 

What are we worried about? The 2017 NHT Survey also highlighted that Plymouth’s overall satisfaction with the condition of road surfaces (37%) is 
1 percentage point below the NHT average, and satisfaction with how the Council deals with potholes and damaged roads (35%) is 2 percentage points 
behind the NHT average. ‘Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – A Code of Practice’ was launched in October 2016 by the UK Roads Liaison Group 
(UKRLG). This code of practice takes an integrated, risk-based approach to managing highway infrastructure assets. All local authorities need to adhere to 
this code of practice by October 2018. This operational risk is currently RAG-rated as amber, representing a medium risk to the Council. 

What needs to happen? New ways of working are being developed to enable a risk-based approach for planned and reactive maintenance for all key 
assets in the Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan. 

An efficient transport network 

Percentage of people satisfied with the condition of roads  

How have we done? 97.8% 

Increase of 0.2 of a percentage point from 97.6% in the 
previous survey in 2016. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2017: 97.5% 

The increase in 2017 puts performance at 0.2 of a percentage 
point (0.2%) below the target. 

Target rating: Green 

96.0%

96.5%

97.0%

97.5%

98.0%

98.5%

2014 2015 2016 2017

% of Principal roads (A) surveyed which are in good or 

acceptable condition

2017 Target 2017 NHT average



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 8 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The annual gross additional homes in the city.  

Why we measure it: To continue meeting the current housing need and accommodate future population growth, it is important to have a strong 
programme of new homes within the city. New house building is the main contributor to the success of this indicator.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well: 1,455 gross additional homes delivered in 2017/18, of which 1,109 were a mix of affordable homes to meet a range of housing needs. 
Significant delivery on Plan for Homes sites with 1,140 new homes have either been completed or are under construction. Completed schemes include extra 
care housing for older people and people with learning disabilities, service veteran’s self-build homes, and wheelchair and accessible homes. We are above 
policy levels of affordable housing (51%), larger family homes, rent to buy models, and also have the largest affordable Passivhaus Scheme in the country. We 
are due to bring forward Council sites to support the delivery of ‘pop up’ housing for homeless people and more age-related homes including bungalows to 
support downsizing. 

What are we worried about? Delivery and viability challenges remain around future pipeline sites. The subsidy required to deliver more truly affordable 
housing, including social rented homes and securing estate regeneration funding to complete the final phase at North Prospect is also an ongoing unresolved 
issue. 

What needs to happen? We continue to develop the JLP delivery strategies on all housing sites, develop housing delivery partnerships/'housing deals' with 
delivery partners, and investigate new models of delivery to further accelerate housing delivery. 

A broad range of homes 
Gross additional homes delivered 

How have we done? 1,455 

Increase of 690 homes (90%) from the number delivered in 
the previous year (2016/17), with 1,455 gross additional 
homes delivered in 2017/18. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2017/18: 1,000 

The target is to deliver 1,000 new homes each year. 
Cumulatively we are also exceeding this target, averaging 
1,115 per annum.    

Target rating: Green 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Gross Additional Homes delivered

Gross Additional Homes delivered Plan for Homes Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 9 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The Council’s spend on goods and services from small and medium-size businesses as a percentage of the total amount that has 
been spent on goods and services. 

Why we measure it: This tells us the extent to which Plymouth City Council is supporting small businesses by procuring goods and services from SMEs 
instead of larger corporate businesses. Supporting the activities of small businesses is likely to deliver long-term benefits to our region. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Spend on SMEs in quarter one 2018/19 was higher than in the same period last year (21.1%) and was consistently above the 
target for the previous three quarters. Within the quarter, the percentage spend declined from 25.6% in April to 16.3% in May, before rising again to 25.9% in 
June, just 0.1 of a percentage point below the target.  

What are we worried about? There has been no change to the procurement practices and the decrease in quarter one will have occurred from the 
types of requirements that the organisation has and the length of time given to source the requirements. The procurement team is responsible for achieving 
the best value for the Council and whilst we endeavour to request quotations from SME suppliers, contracts must be awarded to the most suitable and 
economically advantageous supplier. Preferential treatment cannot be given to SME suppliers if their quotation is not in the best interests of the Council. 

What needs to happen? We are working with departments and implementing category management to provide a greater overview of the 
organisation’s requirements. This will ensure that sufficient time is given to engaging the market and supporting organisations (including SMEs) to understand 
each opportunity and provide guidance and support on how to tender for the goods, services or works. In addition, we are looking at the way in which we 
advertise requirements.

Economic growth that benefits as many people as possible 
Spend on Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 
 

How have we done? 21.9% 

Decline of 4.3 percentage points from 26.2% in quarter four 
2017/18, which is a decline of 16.4%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: 26.0% 

Performance in quarter one is 4.1 percentage points (15.8%) 
below the target. 

Target rating: Red 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of spend on small and medium enterprises

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 10 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

What we measure: The percentage of people aged 16 to 64 years in Plymouth that are employed, including full time, part time and self-employed – the 
employment rate is sourced from the quarterly Office for National Statistics (ONS) survey. 

Why we measure it: The employment rate shows the health of the employment market within the city. 

 

What’s working well? Employment levels are among the highest we have seen since the employment rates have been available for the Plymouth area 
with an overall decrease in the proportion of young people claiming Universal Credit. The Council influences the employment rate with investments currently 
onsite totalling over £170million creating approximately 500+ jobs in construction as well as a future pipeline, creating approximately 2,000+ jobs. Current 
developments include; Ocean’s Gate phase one, Drake Circus leisure, Derry’s, The Range, Next and Langage phase two.  

What are we worried about? Employment data comes from the population survey undertaken by the ONS on a quarterly basis. This data source is 
less robust than the annual Business Register and Employment Survey, as the regularity of results can lead to volatility in results; this needs to be taken into 
account when interpreting the data. Sustained and accelerated economic growth is a green strategic risk, representing a low risk to the Council.  

What needs to happen? Continue to work as business partners to the business community and with inward investment enquiries to ensure that new 
employment opportunities are attracted to the city. There are more than 10 inward investment enquiries in the pipeline and a strong development pipeline 
totalling over £350 million, these include Derriford Business Park, the1620 Hotel, British Land phase two, Oceans Gate phase two, Millbay, Bath Street, 
Crownhill Court, Colin Campbell Court, the railway station and a series of direct developments. The Council will continue to work to attract the best 
investment to the city and ensure through our skills agenda that unemployed residents are aware of where the jobs are and have the skills to respond.

74.0%

74.5%

75.0%

75.5%

76.0%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Employment rate

2017/18 2018/19

Quality jobs and valuable skills 
Employment rate 
 

How have we done? 75.2% 

Increase of 0.6 of a percentage point from quarter four 
2017/18, which is an increase of 0.8%. 

Trend rating: Green  

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only  

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for 
this indicator. 

Target rating: N/A 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 11 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of young people aged 16 to 18, in academic years 12 to 14 who are going to, or remaining in Education, 
Employment or Training (EET) once they have left compulsory education.  

Why we measure it: Young people participating in EET is an enabler to achieving better life outcomes.  

  

What’s working well? Performance in quarter one is 0.7 percentage points higher than the same period in 2017/18. Of those young people not in EET 
(NEET), 4.9% have a destination type of not known. This is lower than the England average, meaning that we are better at knowing the status of our young 
people. We have completed a project to reduce the number of young people who are in the Youth Offending cohort and who are not in EET, which has 
been successful in reducing numbers from 44.0% at the end of quarter four 2017/18 to 53.8% at the end of quarter one 2018/19.  

What are we worried about? The percentage of care leavers not in EET was 49.1% in quarter one 2018/19, compared with 25.6% in quarter one 
2017/18. This is another cohort of vulnerable young people that we are working hard to improve outcomes for. 

What needs to happen? Continuation of a number of Council-led initiatives, including the redesign of the contract with Careers South West offering 
transition support, and a review examining the market place and establishing a supported employment ‘stepped pathway’ for young people with Special 
Educational Needs. Plymouth City Council (PCC) is leading a working group to deliver Council pledge number 48, which will ensure that all care leavers are 
offered a work placement with PCC to help them start their working lives. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Young people in Employment, Education or Training

2017/18 2018/19 England

Quality jobs and valuable skills 
Young people in Education, Employment or Training 
 

How have we done? 90.0% 

Decrease of 0.1 of a percentage point from quarter four 
2017/18. 

Trend rating: Amber  

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for 
this indicator currently. A target will be set for quarter two. 

Target rating: N/A 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 12 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

What we measure: The number of visitors to Plymouth, including day and overnight visitors, whether domestic or international.  

Why we measure it: In 2008, the Council set a target to increase visitor numbers by 20% by 2020. Targets were set for each year to get us to this 
point. Whilst visitors are an important part of Plymouth’s economy, the number of visitors and their attributable spend also serves to inform us about how 
our vibrant cultural offer attracts greater numbers of people to Plymouth.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
What’s working well? Plymouth is following regional and national trends for visitor numbers. Nationally there was a significant increase in visitor 
numbers in 2012/2013 due to the London Olympics and its legacy. Subsequently all regions saw a decrease in the 2014/15 years. This was further 
compounded in the SW by severe storms in February 2014 affecting the whole region with flooding and storm damage and a subsequent decrease in visitor 
bookings. Numbers since have started to rise again with % increases in 2016 across all visitor types, day +3.4%, staying +0.4% and overseas visitors (+2.6%).  
Plymouth is already above trajectory for its 2020 target and will likely exceed this with Mayflower 400 celebrations in 2020 attracting even more visitors to 
the city. Overseas visitor spending increased by 7.9%, bringing valued income into the city.   

What are we worried about? Over 85% of visitors are day visitors and this needs to change to more staying visitors to grow overall spend. 
Seasonality is still a big factor and we need to develop our off peak offering and target markets specifically between September to March. 

What needs to happen? Continue to develop Plymouths cultural offer and events such as The Box, Ocean City Sounds and Mayflower 2020. 
Continue to develop accommodation offering and encourage businesses meetings, events and conferences to the city during the off peak.

A vibrant cultural offer 
Visitor numbers 

How have we done? 5,116,000 

Increase of 3% from the previous year (4,965,000 visitors in 
2015). 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2016: 4,638,733 

The increase in 2016 to in excess of 5 million visitors puts 
performance above the 2016 target by 477,267 visitors 
(10.3%).  

Target rating: Green 

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

2013 2014 2015 2016

Visitor Numbers

Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 13 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

What we measure: The proportion of Plymouth City Survey respondents who agree or disagree with the statements: 1) I am proud of Plymouth’s 
place in history; and 2) Plymouth has a lot to offer. 

Why we measure it: These questions give an indication of residents’ view of Plymouth’s cultural offer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The results indicate that residents are proud of Plymouth’s place in history, with 86% of respondents agreeing with the 
statement in the Plymouth City Survey. Only 3% of respondents disagreed. This indicates that residents are aware and proud of the city’s heritage and 
historical importance, which sets a positive underpinning for the upcoming Mayflower 400 celebrations. More than half (57%) of respondents agreed that 
Plymouth has a lot to offer, with 21% disagreeing with this statement. To give an overall score of residents’ view of Plymouth’s offer, these statements were 
combined – in total, 71.5% of responses were positive and 11.7% were negative. 

What are we worried about? Young people (aged 16-24 years) were significantly more likely to disagree with both statements than other age 
groups. Views also varied across wards, for example, 93% of respondents from Plymstock Dunstone agreed that they were proud of Plymouth’s place in 
history, whereas only 71% of respondents in Drake agreed (this could be due to the higher student population in Drake ward). Agreement with the second 
statement ranged from 47% in Southway to 69% in Peverell. This second statement was broad so responses will not specifically relate to cultural events or 
things to do in the city, but are also likely to include, for example, employment opportunities. 

What needs to happen? Responses will be used to inform programmes of work, for example around events, with a particular focus on groups that 
gave less positive responses to these statements to ensure that interventions are targeted to achieve the greatest impact. 

A vibrant cultural offer 
Residents’ view of Plymouth’s offer 

How have we done? 71.5% 

These questions were asked for the first time in the 2018 survey. 
The statements combined give a positive response score of 71.5%. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

A high level of agreement with the statements is desirable but no 
specific target has been set due to this being a new method of data 
collection. The next survey will be in 2020 and we will hope to 
increase on 2018 performance.  

Target rating: N/A 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Agree Disagree Neither agree

nor

disagree/don't

know

Residents' view of Plymouth's offer (2018)

I am proud of Plymouth's

place in history

Plymouth has a lot to

offer

Combined statements



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 14 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

What we measure: The amount of household waste that is recycled, reused or composted. 

Why we measure it: Recycling helps to protect the environment and reduces the need for extracting, refining and processing raw materials. It also 
reduces greenhouse gas emissions, which helps to tackle climate change. This indicator allows us to assess our success in trying to increase recycling levels. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? The overall percentage of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting has improved from 38.8% in quarter one 
2017/18 to 40.6% in quarter one 2018/19 (we compare to the same quarter due to seasonal trends). The proportion of household waste used for energy 
recovery is significantly higher than available benchmarks at 60.4%, compared with an average of 45% for local authorities in England. More than 25% of 
household waste is sent for dry recycling, which again is better than the England average (19%). No household waste is sent directly to landfill and the 
household waste that does end up in a landfill (1.58% of total household waste) is in the form of fly ash resulting from the energy from waste (EFW) process. 

What are we worried about? Increasing recycling levels in Plymouth is a key delivery aim of the Plan for Waste to ensure that we meet the Private 
Finance Initiative (PFI) targets agreed with the South West Devon Waste Partnership. Back office systems and processes require updating and modernisation 
so that we can improve the delivery of frontline services for customers. The risk of non-delivery of the Plan for Waste is currently RAG-rated as amber on 
the strategic risk register, representing a medium risk to the Council. 

What needs to happen? A Modernisation Plan is in place across the Street Scene and Waste Department. It focuses on improving the back office 
systems and processes required for work schedules by introducing the Street Services Information Management System (SSIMS). 

A green sustainable city that cares about the environment 
Household waste sent for recycling, reuse or composting 

How have we done? 40.6% 

Increase of 1.8 of a percentage point from quarter one 
2017/18, which is an increase of 4.6%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 39.0% 

The increase in quarter one now puts performance at 1.6 of a 
percentage point (4.1%) above the target. 

Target rating: Green 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of household waste sent for recycling, reuse or 

composting

2017/18 2018/19 Target England



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 15 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

93% 

90% 

Adult Social 
Care  

service 
users who 
feel safe 

and secure 

50 

48 

Category 
one hazards 

removed 
49% 

39% 

Residents 
who think 

people from 
different 

backgrounds 
get on well 

23.4% 

Residents who 
regularly do 

voluntary work 

90% 

88% 

Residents 
who feel 

safe 
(during the 

day) 

Key Stage 4 pupils 
achieving the 

’basics’ 

58.9% 

 

 

Improvements have been seen in the Caring Council priority in quarter one (or based on latest available data). ‘A Caring Council’ consists of six priorities, 
each with two to four key performance indicators (KPIs) and performance for all indicators is summarised below. More detail on each KPI is given in the 
following pages.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A Caring Council – Quarter One Summary 

Improved schools where 
pupils achieve better 

outcomes (p. 16) 

78.8% 

74.9% 

Pupils 
attending 
schools 

judged as 
good or 

outstanding 
by OFSTED 

5.7 

2.4 

Delayed 
Transfers of 

Care 
attributable 

to Adult 

Social Care 

26.8% 

24.6% 

Children 
with 

multiple 
child 

protection 
plans 74% 

69% 

Closed adult 
safeguarding 

enquiries 

Focus on prevention and 

early intervention (p. 21) 

Reduce health 

inequalities (p. 28) 

269 

92 

“Families 
with a 

Future” 
achieving 
outcomes 

Keep children, young people 

and adults protected (p. 18) 

People feel safe in 

Plymouth (p. 25) 

 264 

175 

Households 
prevented 

from 
becoming 
homeless 

A 
welcoming 

city (p. 30) 

45% 

38% 

Stop 
Smoking 
service 

successful 
quitters 31.7% 

29.6% 

Excess 
weight in 

10-11 year 

olds 

 55.95 

46.20 

Average 
number of 
households 
in bed and 
breakfasts 

(days) 32.1% 

28.6% 

Repeat 
referrals to 
Children’s 

Social 

Care 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 16 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The percentage of pupils that attend a school judged as good or better by Ofsted. 

Why we measure it: The Ofsted ratings give a view of the quality of education provision within the city. A higher quality standard of provision is an 
enabler to children achieving better outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? In Plymouth, 100% of special schools in the city have been judged as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by Ofsted. A special school provides 
education for pupils who have specific needs which affect their ability to learn This means that all pupils who require a special school education are in a good 
quality education setting, enabling them to achieve better outcomes. 

What are we worried about? 80% of primary schools and 50% of secondary schools in Plymouth are judged as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. This is lower 
than the national averages of 90% and 79% of primary and secondary schools, respectively. This figure includes schools that are not yet inspected following 
conversion to academies. National benchmarking for this academic year will be available in quarter two. A reduction in the quality of education provision 
negatively affects the level of pupil attainment, a red strategic risk. The inability to influence alternative provision due to Academy Status and to improve 
educational outcomes for children who have been excluded from mainstream school is currently an amber risk for the Council on the strategic risk register. 
The risk is being mitigated by working with primary school leaders to provide additional alternative provision, focusing on those at risk of exclusion. 

What needs to happen? Overall there is a desire to improve the quality of school provision in the city. A particular priority for the Plymouth 
Education Board is delivering the ‘Plymouth Challenge’, which is focused on secondary school provision. Further action will also be discussed at the Education 
and Children’s Social Care Scrutiny Committee during quarter three.

Improved schools where pupils achieve better outcomes 
Percentage of pupils attending a school judged as good or outstanding by Ofsted 

How have we done? 74.9% 

Decline of 3.9 percentage points from the previous snapshot 
at the end of quarter four 2017/18, which is a decline of 4.9%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 86.7% 

The decline in quarter one now puts performance at 11.8 
percentage points (13.6%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 Q1 2018/19

% of pupils attending a school judged as good or 

outstanding by Ofsted (primaries and secondaries)

Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 17 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Key Stage 4 pupils who achieve a standard Attainment 8 pass (9-4) in English and Maths at the end of each 
academic year. 

Why we measure it: This gives an indication of the educational outcomes for young people once they reach the end of compulsory education, as well 
as the quality of secondary education provision in the city. Higher attainment levels are an enabler to children achieving better long-term outcomes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? Key Stage 4 attainment for pupils receiving Special Educational Needs (SEN) support or who have an Education, Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP) is higher in Plymouth than the national figures. Local attainment gaps for these pupils are also smaller than the national gaps. This 
demonstrates that work to ensure that some of our most vulnerable pupils in the city have the opportunity to achieve better outcomes is effective. 

What are we worried about? At the end of the 2016/17 academic year, 20.7% of secondary school pupils were persistently absent from their 
education. This is higher than the national average of 13.7%. Persistent absence is defined as school-age pupils missing 10% or more of their school sessions. 
Parents or guardians removing pupils from school during term time is believed to contribute to lower attainment and has been identified as an amber risk on 
the operational risk register for the Council.  

What needs to happen? A priority for the Plymouth Education Board is delivering the ‘Plymouth Challenge’ which is focused on secondary provision. 
This is being launched during quarter two at the start of the 2018/19 academic year. Results for the 2017/18 academic year will be published in January 2019, 
with the target set for Attainment 8 at 66%. 

Improved schools where pupils achieve better outcomes 
Key Stage 4 pupils achieving the ‘basics’  

How have we done? 58.9% 

This annual data is not comparable with previous academic 
years due to national curriculum changes. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2016/17: 59.5% 

The attainment reached in the academic year of 2016/17 put 
performance at 0.6 of a percentage point (1.0%) below the 
target.  

Target rating: Amber 

50%

55%

60%

65%

2016/17

% of Key Stage 4 pupils achieving the 'Basics' 2016/17

Target England



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 18 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The average daily number of delayed discharges within an acute or community hospital, presented as a rate per 100,000 population. 
This tells us the number of people who are still in hospital at a point when they have been identified as fit for discharge, with the delay attributable to Adult 
Social Care (ASC). This could be due to a delay in social care assessment, availability of a residential home bed, or finding an appropriate care package.     

Why we measure it: It is an important marker of the effective joint working of local partners, and is a measure of the effectiveness of the interface 
between health and social care services. Minimising delayed transfers of care and enabling people to live independently at home is one of the desired 
outcomes of social care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Discharge to Assess pathways have been reframed, with Home First (assessment at home) now being implemented. Integrated 
discharge teams are now zoned to provide continuity across wards. The appointment of an Interim Manager of Integrated Care and Livewell Southwest’s 
(LWSW) appointment of an additional ASC Service Manager post brought much needed capacity and focus to the team. LWSW have also allocated six 
additional social workers to the integrated teams, allowing for greater capacity and resilience. During quarter one, LWSW have assessed in excess of 450 
people discharged from hospital, with 236 going on to receive an ASC service via Intermediate care. 

What are we worried about? We have not seen the same level of reduction in delays at community hospitals, such as Mount Gould. Pressure on 
the health and social care system is an amber operational risk for the Council, particularly in relation to patient flow in the urgent care system. 

What needs to happen? Performance of the whole system will continue to be monitored closely by the System Improvement Board. Focus will 
remain on the whole system including A&E four hour wait, emergency admissions, weekend discharges and stranded/super stranded patients. 

Keep children, young people and adults protected 
Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) attributable to Adult Social Care 

How have we done? 2.4 delays per day 

The average daily number of delays reduced by 3.3 from the 
previous quarter, which is a reduction of 57.9%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 6.0 delays per day 

The decline in quarter one now puts performance at 2.4 
delays per day per 100,000 population, 3.6 delays (60.0%) 
below the target. 

Target rating: Green 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population, attributable to ASC

2017/18 2018/19 Target England



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 19 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The percentage of safeguarding enquiries where at the point of completion the individual affected or individual’s representative’s 
desired outcomes have been fully achieved. 

Why we measure it: Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is a sector-led initiative which aims to develop an outcome focus to safeguarding work, and a 
range of responses to support people to improve or resolve their circumstances. This is an indication of how well we are achieving this outcome. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? We have undertaken a review of the Adult Safeguarding process with Livewell Southwest (LWSW) after identifying that too 
many initial safeguarding contacts were progressing to full investigation, in 2017/18 76% of concerns progressed to enquiry, nationally this figure was 41%. 
Actions include a refresh of training for staff and give us confidence that resources are focused on appropriate safeguarding referrals. In quarter one, we 
completed 227 safeguarding enquiries and in 74% of cases the desired outcome of the individual or representative were met. 

What are we worried about? The responsibility to protect adults from harm is an amber risk for the organisation on the operational risk register. 
We are concerned about the average length of time that it takes for a safeguarding enquiry to be completed. Since the introduction of Making Safeguarding 
Personal as part of the Care Act the national requirement to complete enquiries within 28 days no longer exists, however we feel that we take too long to 
complete an enquiry (average of 113 days). We will work with LWSW to ensure that 85% of enquiries are completed within 28 days by the end of 2018/19. 

What needs to happen? We will continue to work with partners to ensure that not only do we strive to meet the desired outcome of the individual 
affected, but that we are confident in the process of recording outcomes accurately, ensuring that we always have a true representation through this 
performance indicator. Performance is positive but we will continue to drive improvement to ensure that we achieve our target.

Keep children, young people and adults protected 
Adult safeguarding enquiries 

How have we done? 74% 

Increase of 5 percentage points from the previous quarter, 
which is an increase of 7.2%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 75%  

The increase in quarter one now puts performance at 1 
percentage point (1.3%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of closed safeguarding enquiries where the individual or 

individual's representative's desired outcomes have been fully 

achieved 

2017/18 2018/19 Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 20 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of children starting a child protection plan that have previously been on a child protection plan. 

Why we measure it: This gives us insight into children who have been deemed at significant risk of harm, had that risk mitigated and then later found 
to be at significant risk again. This may be for the same or for new reasons but highlights vulnerable children where a risk of harm has escalated back to the 
point where a child needs our help and a new protection plan is put in place. 

 

What’s working well? At the end of quarter one the social worker vacancy rate was at 8% compared to 17% nationally, which is encouraging in terms 
of capacity to deal with current demand. Overall, the number of children on a plan has fallen by 40 over the quarter and now stands at 293 against a target of 
320. 

What are we worried about? Referral numbers have increased by 46.7% from 926 in quarter one 2017/18 to 1,359 in quarter one 2018/19, which 
may increase pressure in the system. Child protection visit performance is currently red against target (90%) at 76.5%. Increases in the number of looked 
after children and those subject to a Child Protection Plan can lead to cost pressures on independent placements, staffing and resources. This is currently 
rated as an amber risk for the Council on the operational risk register. 

What needs to happen? Regular reviewing of new plans where a previous plan existed is underway and will continue to improve our understanding of 
the issue. This can then be communicated to relevant partners to ensure that children receive help before requiring child protection services. The child 
protection visiting rates need to be improved and the impact of increased pressure on the front door needs to be monitored. The positive work around 
recruitment and assessments needs to continue.

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of children subject to multiple child protection plans

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 Target England

Keep children, young people and adults protected 
Children with multiple child protection plans  

How have we done? 24.6% 

Decrease of 2.2 percentage points from the previous quarter, 
which is a decrease of 8.2%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 23% 

The decline in quarter one now puts performance at 1.6 percentage 
points (7.0%) above the target. 

Target rating: Amber 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 21 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The percentage of referrals received by children's social care where there has been a referral within the previous 12 months for 
the same child. 

Why we measure it: This gives an insight into the effectiveness of the Children’s Social Care response to concerns about children at first referral. 
Repeat referrals can indicate that the child may not have received the right support at the right time to safeguard them and address their needs. There are 
also cost implications with repeat referrals as resolution could have been secured at first referral with more effective outcomes put in place. 

 

What’s working well? In terms of the broader system, timeliness of assessment performance is good with 93.8% of assessments being carried out 
within the expected timescale. This is an increase of 17.8 percentage points since quarter four of 2017/18. 

What are we worried about? Repeat referrals have continued to increase and are currently at 32.1%. Performance in this area is above target as 
well as above the performance of statistical neighbours. The indicator gives a view on both our processes and the success of the support that we put in place; 
there will be a greater focus on reducing repeat referrals this financial year. The failure to maintain appropriate Children’s Social Care caseloads, which is 
currently RAG-rated risk on the operational risk register as amber. 

What needs to happen? Phase three Hub/Gateway re-alignment and the targeted support review support a consistent application of thresholds to 
contacts and referrals, and support partners in holding appropriate levels of risk and providing families with early help. Preliminary work has started to look 
at the offer we give when we either step down or end our support (step out), with the aim of ensuring the right sustainable outcomes are reached and to 
ensure our care planning is SMART, outcomes-focussed and effective in order to prevent children and families from representing for a statutory response.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Repeat referrals to Children’s Social Care

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 Target England

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
Repeat referrals to Children’s Social Care 

How have we done? 32.1% 

Increase of 3.5 percentage points from the previous quarter, 
which is an increase of 12.2%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 25% 

The increase in quarter one now puts performance at 7.1 
percentage points (28.4%) above the target. 

Target rating: Red 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 22 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of families in a quarter where we are able to evidence that we have achieved significant and sustained progress against 
specified concerns, or a pathway into employment. Families must have at least two of the six headline criteria to be eligible for the programme. This 
programme attracts payment by results for each family successfully supported to make these changes. 

Why we measure it: This helps us to understand how many families we have worked with, alongside our partners, to help them to improve their 
situation. We support families to overcome a variety of problems, such as youth offending/anti-social behaviour, attendance at school, child safety (Child 
Protection/Children in Need), worklessness, domestic abuse, and mental and physical health issues. 

  

What’s working well? We now have a number of staff with specific roles who are able to co-ordinate and work through data sets to ensure that we 
are on target to achieve the required outcomes within the local authority and partner agencies. 

What are we worried about? We are concerned about the impact of the new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on partner agencies 
sharing evidence of families who have met the success criteria. There is also a risk to vulnerable children, young people and families by not delivering early 
intervention and prevention and responding as soon as possible to their needs. This is currently rated as an amber (medium) risk on the strategic risk 
register. 

What needs to happen? We need to continue to drive forward transformational change across the partnership in relation to whole family working, 
engagement with the Early Help Assessment Tool process, data exchange and achieving the outcomes required within the Troubled Families Outcomes Plan.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

“Families with a Future” achieving outcomes

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 Target

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
“Families with a Future” achieving outcomes 

How have we done? 269  

An increase of 177 families classified as achieving significant 
and sustained progress from quarter four 2017/18, which is an 
increase of 192.4%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 240 per quarter 

Quarter one achieved 269 outcomes, 29 (12.1%) above the 
target 

Target rating: Green 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 23 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The number of households that Plymouth City Council has either helped to stay in their current accommodation or has supported 
to relocate, preventing them from becoming homeless. A household is defined as one person living alone, or a group of people living at the same address who 
share common housekeeping or a living room. This reports on quarter four 2017/18 as the latest available data. 

Why we measure it: Local authorities have a statutory duty to help all households that are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. These families 
and individuals are among the most vulnerable in society and we want to make sure that as many as possible get the help that they need. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Despite not meeting the end of year target, 2017/18 saw a big increase in the number of households prevented from becoming 
homeless, from 711 in 2016/17 to 900 in 2017/18.  

What are we worried about? The implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act (HRA) 2017 from 1 April 2018 has significantly changed the 
duties on the Council in relation to the prevention and relief of homelessness. The way the data is collated has also changed significantly. Homelessness is 
associated with the risk of emergency accommodation bed and breakfast budget overspends leading to a failure to support people who are made homeless. 
This risk is currently RAG-rated as amber on the operational risk register, representing a medium risk to the Council.  

What needs to happen? The Community Connections team has utilised Burdens Funding to increase capacity and change service delivery in line with 
the HRA requirements, and is working with commissioners and partners to ensure that all prevention activity can be captured. They continue to work with 
partners to find early intervention and prevention opportunities, for example by identifying the risk of homelessness through Devon Home Choice 
applications, and working with the Children’s and Adults Social Care teams.

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
Number of households prevented from becoming homeless 

How have we done? 264 

89 more households were prevented from becoming 
homeless in quarter four 2017/18 than in quarter three, which 
is an increase of 50.9%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 948 (cumulative target) 

The increase in quarter four puts performance for 2017/18 at 
48 households (5.1%) below the end of year target of 948. 
This target has remained the same for 2018/19. 

Target rating: Amber 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of households prevented from becoming 

homeless (cumulative)

2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 24 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The average number of households that are staying in bed and breakfast (B&B) temporary accommodation at any one time. A 
household is defined as one person living alone, or a group of people living at the same address who share common housekeeping or a living room. 

Why we measure it: B&Bs are used as a form of temporary accommodation to meet statutory duties to accommodate homeless households while an 
assessment of the full duty to them under homeless legislation is made. However, it is expensive for the Council to fund and is not suitable for more than a 
short period of time for most households. The aim is therefore to reduce the use of B&Bs and find alternative accommodation options for people sooner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Despite being significantly above the target of 33 households, there has been a decrease throughout quarter one – from 58.00 in 
April to 52.30 households in June, suggesting that the work being implemented by the team is beginning to result in a downward trend. The number of 
households in B&B accommodation in quarter one 2018/19 was also lower than during the same period last year (57.90).  

What are we worried about? There has been a 25% increase in approaches to the service, with 1,009 approaches in quarter one 2018/19 compared 
to 810 in quarter one 2017/18. There is no indication that demand for temporary accommodation will reduce. Homelessness is associated with the risk of 
emergency accommodation bed and breakfast budget overspends leading to a failure to support people who are made homeless. This risk is currently RAG-
rated as amber on the operational risk register, representing a medium risk to the Council.  

What needs to happen? Additional capacity of a small Assertive Outreach B&B team has enabled some early move on opportunities for clients, which 
is supporting the downward trend. Work is ongoing to replicate this model across the service. Work is also ongoing with partners to identify alternatives to 
B&Bs, including an increase in the availability of Houselet (private sector lease) accommodation, a ‘container homes’ project and a ‘Housing First’ model.

How have we done? 55.95 

9.75 more households were housed in B&Bs in quarter one 
than in the previous quarter, which is an increase of 21.1%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: 33.00 

The increase in quarter one puts performance at 22.95 
households (69.5%) above the target. 

Target rating: Red 

0

20

40

60

80

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Average number of households in bed and breakfast 

accommodation

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 target

Focus on prevention and early intervention 
Average number of households in bed and breakfast accommodation 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 25 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who feel fairly safe or very safe when outside in their local area during the 
day and after dark. The data is comparable with that sourced from the 2014 Wellbeing Surveys as the questions are identical. 

Why we measure it: Public perception of the safety of their local area can influence local policy decisions, planning, and the allocation of police 
resources. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

What’s working well? In 2018, 90% of residents who completed the Plymouth City Survey felt safe outside in their local area during the day, with only 
3% feeling either fairly or very unsafe. This is a small increase on the 2014 Wellbeing Survey. Across the wards in Plymouth, the proportion feeling safe 
ranged from 83% to 97%. 

What are we worried about? As expected, the proportion of residents who feel safe after dark is lower than during the day at 60%, with 22% of 
survey respondents feeling unsafe. Only 35% of residents aged 16-24 years felt safe after dark, while 47% of this group felt unsafe, which was significantly 
more than any other age group. This indicator is associated with the risk of a Police and Crime Commissioner funding cut, the latest RAG rating for this risk 
is green, representing a low risk on the operational risk register. 

What needs to happen? The information from this survey question will be used to inform and support future partnership work to help the 
communities and groups most in need.

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Proportion of residents who feel safe 

How have we done? 90% day / 60% after dark 

During the day: Increase of 2 percentage points from the 
2014 Wellbeing Survey, which is an increase of 2.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

After dark: Decline of 1 percentage point from the 2014 
Wellbeing Survey, which is a decline of 1.6%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for 
these questions in the Plymouth City Survey. 

Target rating: N/A 

Match colours to scheme. Add 

benchmarking 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2012 2014 2018

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who feel safe 

outside in their local area

During the day After dark



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 26 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The number of category one hazards removed from private rented properties by the Council. A category one hazard is a hazard 
that is a serious risk to a person’s health and safety. 

Why we measure it: This tells us the amount of activity done by the Council to remove these serious hazards and to improve the safety of private 
rented housing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Additional training has been ongoing for staff in preparation for legislative change, which is due in October 2018. This has 
impacted on the team’s capacity to visit properties. Despite the reduction in capacity, the fall in the number of category one hazards removed since the 
previous quarter was small. Once this training has been completed, coupled with the recruitment of an additional two members of staff, there should be an 
upturn in activity for quarter two. 

What are we worried about? Unless there is a significant increase in activity, the yearly target of 243 category one hazards removed from private 
rented properties is unlikely to be reached.  

What needs to happen? Once the training described above has finished and the team can return to full capacity, with the addition of two further 
members of staff, performance will be monitored closely to assess the gap between the number of category one hazards removed and the target. 

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Number of category one hazards removed 

How have we done? 48 

2 fewer category one hazards were removed in quarter one 
2018/19 than in quarter four 2017/18, which is a decline of 
4%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 243 (annual) 

Although higher than the same period last year, performance 
is still 16 hazards (26.3%) below the quarter one target of 
60.75 (yearly target of 243÷4). 

Target rating: Red 

Match colours to scheme. Add 

benchmarking 
0

20

40

60

80

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Number of category 1 hazards removed

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 27 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The proportion of people who use Adult Social Care services who say that those services make them feel safe and secure, as 
measured using the annual Statutory Adult Social Care Survey. 

Why we measure it: Safety is fundamental to the wellbeing and independence of people using social care, and the wider population. Feeling safe is a 
vital part of users’ experience of their care and support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? During 2017/18, more than 6,000 Health and Social Assessments and plans were completed by either Livewell Southwest (as 
part of the social care contract) or by the Plymouth Guild (as part of the carers contract). We have also undertaken in excess of 3,000 care package reviews 
over the same period and completed 1,275 safeguarding enquiries. We monitor activity through regular contract performance with providers. Throughout 
the past four years, the proportion of Plymouth’s Adult Social Care service users who feel safe has been consistently higher than the England average. 

What are we worried about? Failure to protect vulnerable adults from risk of harm resulting in a significant incident is a risk on the strategic risk 
register. This is currently RAG-rated as amber, representing a medium risk to the Council. The above activity contributes to ensuring that as an organisation 
and partnership we meet our responsibility to keep people safe. 

What needs to happen? We will continue to monitor social care activity via provider performance meetings, as well as safeguarding activity and 
outcomes via both performance meetings and the Plymouth Adult Safeguarding Board. This national indicator allows us to benchmark the impact that our 
services have on people’s feelings of safety. Therefore, we will continue to monitor how we benchmark against national, regional and similar local authorities.    

People feel safe in Plymouth 
Proportion of Adult Social Care service users who feel safe 

How have we done? 90% 

Decline of 3 percentage points from the previous year, which 
is a decline of 3.2%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2017/18: 93% 

The decline in 2017/18 put performance at 3 percentage 
points (3.2%) below the target. 

Target rating: Amber 

70%

80%

90%

100%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

% of people who use Adult Social Care services who say 

that those services make them feel safe and secure

Target England



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 28 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The prevalence of excess weight (including obesity) among children in Year 6 (aged 10 – 11 years old). 

Why we measure it: Excess weight in childhood is a key risk factor for obesity and its associated illnesses in adulthood, as well as potentially having a 
negative impact on children’s physical and mental health.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? We are working on giving children the best start in life (e.g. breast feeding, weaning and parenting advice), making schools 
health-promoting environments (e.g. Healthy School Quality Mark), managing the area around schools through fast food planning policy, and working with 
partners to raise awareness of the risk factors of unhealthy diets and physical inactivity (Thrive Plymouth). Since 2006/07 when the National Child 
Measurement Programme (NCMP) began, Plymouth has consistently exceeded the target of taking valid measurements from 85% of eligible children. 

What are we worried about? At reception age, the percentage of children with excess weight children in Plymouth is 26.3%, which is significantly 
worse than the England average (22.6%). As the nation becomes more overweight, the results of the NCMP that we provide parents with, whilst clinically 
correct, will seem further away from their perception and parents may choose to opt out of the programme, or will not take action, because they do not 
believe the results. 

What needs to happen? There is a lack of a firm evidence base on the best interventions to put into place to support families where children have 
excess weight; we are working on developing the current programme to improve outcomes. For 2018/19, the communication provided to parents with the 
results letter that describes the local opportunities available to them will be more tailored to appeal to the parents and stimulate behaviour change. The 
current quality standards around the NCMP process and the data handling must be maintained to avoid any reputational risk to the programme. 

Reduce health inequalities 
Excess weight in 10-11 year olds 

How have we done? 31.7% 

Increase of 2.1 percentage points from the previous year, 
which is an increase of 7.1%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Whilst a decrease is desirable, there is no specific target at 
present for this indicator.  

Target rating: N/A 

26%

28%

30%

32%

34%

36%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Child excess weight in 10-11 year olds

England



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 29 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The number of people who engage with the Stop Smoking service and set a quit date, with successful quit attempts measured at 
four weeks.  

Why we measure it: Smoking is the leading cause of preventable ill health and premature mortality in the UK. Smoking is a major risk factor for many 
diseases, such as lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart disease. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Whilst numbers seen by the service each year are dropping, this is in line with expectation and the national picture – a 
combination of smoking prevalence reducing and remaining smokers being harder to reach. Last year, the service saw 1,640 people who set a quit date and 
received support, with a quit rate of 40.8%. We provide smoking cessation interventions through GPs, pharmacies and specialist services and train staff in 
‘making every contact count’ (MECC), which helps them to signpost people into services. A key factor in reducing smoking rates is e-cigarettes – these may 
not be completely safe, but are much safer than smoking; an important message and one that our partners are promoting. 

What are we worried about? We continue to be significantly worse than the England average despite having been on a reducing trend (18.4% versus 
15.5% nationally). People who smoke tend to be those with complex issues and are ‘hard to reach’. This presents a challenge and we are working to change 
our approaches to ensure that we engage with people and work with them in a way that works for them. 

What needs to happen? Continue to invest in the services and to roll out MECC to ensure that as many brief interventions take place as possible that 
encourage people to consider stopping smoking and support them in doing so. We will continue to focus our resources on those with the most complex 
needs in terms of support to stop smoking, and continue to work with University Hospitals Plymouth to embed MECC within their organisation. 

Reduce health inequalities 
Stop Smoking Service successful quit attempts 

How have we done? 45.0% 

Increase of 7.4 percentage points from the previous quarter, 
which is an increase of 19.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 35.0% 

The increase in quarter four now puts performance at 10 
percentage points (28.6%) above the target. 

Target rating: Green 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of people accessing the Stop Smoking service who 

have quit (2017/18)

Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 30 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who volunteer or help out in the city, which includes formal volunteering 
(e.g. for a charity or community group) or informal helping out (e.g. a neighbour). 

Why we measure it: Cities of Service is a volunteer work programme with the aim of increasing the number of volunteers, who volunteer at least 
once a month, by 1% per year for the next five years. This question helps to monitor the outcomes of this programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? The Cities of Service programme is delivered by the voluntary and community sector and helps to support partnership working 
between the Council and third sector organisations. In total, 43% of survey respondents volunteer or help out, with more than half (56%) of those doing so 
either daily or most weeks, increasing to 70% who volunteer or help out at least once a month. Overall, this equates to 23.4% of the total survey sample who 
volunteer or help out at least once a month. 

What are we worried about? Volunteering is correlated with other Plymouth City Survey questions around being aware of community 
activities/groups in the local area and being involved in community activities, and having social contact. From these questions, five wards featured regularly as 
being unaware of what is happening in their local area and having a lack of social action. Young people and people with disabilities were also more likely to 
respond negatively to these questions.  

What needs to happen? The data will provide insight into the characteristics of volunteers and the type of voluntary work that they do, which will 
enable a more targeted approach to advertising volunteering opportunities to the communities and groups that appear to be less engaged. Volunteering is 
anticipated to be a way of extending the reach and awareness of Mayflower 400 and will support the celebrations in 2020. 

A welcoming city 
Percentage of residents who regularly do voluntary work 

How have we done? 23.4% 

23.4% of residents volunteer at least once per month. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Although an increase is desirable, there is no specific target 
set for this question in the Plymouth City Survey. 

Target rating: N/A 
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Volunteer or help out total Volunteer or help out at least once a

month

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who volunteer 

(2018)



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 31 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who agreed with the statement ‘my local area is a place where people from 
different backgrounds get on well together’. 

Why we measure it: This question gives a measure of community cohesion within Plymouth and measures performance against the statutory equality 
objective to increase the number of people who think that people from different backgrounds get on well together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Only 15% of respondents disagreed that their local area is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well 
together. This is because more than 1,000 of the 2,258 people who answered this question in the survey responded with ‘neither agree nor disagree’ or 
‘don’t know’. When these responses are removed from the data set, 72% of the remaining 1,234 survey respondents agreed with the statement. An equality 
objective to improve the cohesion rates in Plymouth’s four least cohesive wards was set in 2016 and all four either maintained or improved on their score 
from the 2014 survey. 

What are we worried about? The 2018 Plymouth City Survey score of 39% is significantly below that seen for the same question in the 2014 
Wellbeing Survey and 15 of the 20 wards in Plymouth saw a decrease in their cohesion score in 2018. Younger people aged 16 to 34 years and those aged 
45-64 years are less likely to agree that people from different backgrounds get on well together in their areas. 

What needs to happen? The results from this question in the survey will be used to measure performance against the statutory equality objective to 
increase the number of people who believe that people from different backgrounds get on well together. The data will also be used to inform a bid to the 
Controlling Migration Fund, with activity focused on those wards where fewer respondents felt people from different backgrounds got on well together. 

A welcoming city 
Percentage of residents who think their local area is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well 
together 

How have we done? 39% 

Decline of 10 percentage points from the 2014 Wellbeing 
Survey, which is a decline of 20.4%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for 
these questions in the Plymouth City Survey. 

Target rating: N/A 0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2012 2014 2018

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who think their local area 

is a place where people from different backgrounds get on well 

together



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 32 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

£2.882m 

£2.411m 

Spend 
against 
budget 

50% 

23% 

Statutory 
complaints 
completed 

within 
timescales 

38.7% 

35.4% 

Business 
rates 

collected 

 

 

Performance for the ‘How We Will Deliver’ outcomes has been variable in quarter one (or based on latest available data). This section of the Corporate Plan 
consists of six outcomes, each with between one and three KPIs to measure progress and performance for all indicators is summarised below. More detail on 
each KPI is given in the following pages. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

How We Will Deliver – Quarter One Summary 

71% 

53% 

Staff who 
report use 

of customer 
feedback to 

improve 
services 

Regional 
influence 

Offers 

and Asks 

67% 

64% 

Staff 
engagement 

7.72 

7.20 

Number of 
days taken 

as sick 
leave 

Listening to our 
customers and 
communities 

(p. 33) 

Providing quality 

public services (p. 35) 

Motivated, skilled and 
engaged workforce 

(p. 36) 

Spending money 

wisely (p. 38) 

A strong voice for 
Plymouth regionally 

and nationally (p. 41) 

28.4% 

28.1% 

Council 
tax 

collected 

31% 

Residents who 
know how to get 
involved in local 

decisions 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 33 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of staff survey respondents who agree with the statement ‘my team uses customer feedback to improve our 
service’. 

Why we measure it: To reveal the extent to which customer feedback is used across services within the Council to inform and improve service 
delivery, so that residents of Plymouth receive the service from us that they need and expect.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? There has been a renewed focus on the customer this quarter, including a recent Local Government Association (LGA) peer 
challenge into the what the Council is currently doing and how this can be developed or changed to improve the customer experience. Better engagement 
with and working in partnership with our customers is a key aspect of the peer challenge. 

What are we worried about? The drop of 18 percentage points between 2016 and 2017, from 71% to 53%, is significant and puts us 16 percentage 
points below the Local Government (LG) benchmark of 69%. This is the first time that Plymouth City Council has performed worse than this particular 
benchmark.  

What needs to happen? The reasons for the drop in performance need to be understood and used to ensure that customer feedback is used to 
improve services. The findings from the peer challenge will be released in quarter two and will be incorporated into services’ priorities. The next staff survey 
will take place in November 2018 and the results available early in 2019.

Listening to our customers and communities 
Use of customer feedback for service improvement 

How have we done? 53% 

Decline of 18 percentage points from the previous survey in 
2016, which is a decrease of 25.4%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for 
this individual question in the staff survey. 

Target rating: N/A 

Match colours to scheme. Add 

benchmarking 
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2014 2015 2016 2017

% of staff who agree with the statement 'my team uses 

customer feedback to improve our service'

LG benchmark



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 34 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Plymouth City Survey respondents who agreed with the statement ‘I know how to get involved in decisions that 
affect my local area’.  

Why we measure it: This question tells us the extent to which residents feel they are involved in decisions that affect their local area, which can 
inform the Council’s engagement activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? A similar question was included in the 2012 Listening Plymouth Survey and the 2014 Wellbeing Survey, which asked residents to 
rate the extent to which they agreed that they can influence decisions affecting their local area. This yielded low positive response rates of 19% and 16% in 
the 2012 and 2014 surveys, respectively. By changing ‘can influence decisions’ to ‘know how to get involved in decisions’, results show that just under a third 
(30.76%) of respondents are aware of how they can get involved in decisions. This gives a more accurate picture of residents’ knowledge of the decision 
making processes in their local area. 

What are we worried about? More residents disagreed with the statement (total of 38.35%) than agreed, with a further 30.89% answering either 
‘neither agree nor disagree’ or ‘don’t know’. This suggests that more engagement is needed to help residents get involved in local decision making processes. 
In particular, younger age groups were less likely to agree that they know how to get involved, which correlates with the results of questions in the survey on 
awareness and involvement in local community activities and groups. The results also varied between wards, ranging from 13% to 43%.  

What needs to happen? The results from this question will be used to inform Ward Member engagement activity to ensure that the wards and 
resident groups that appear to be less engaged in their community will be supported to increase their involvement.

Listening to our customers and communities 
Residents who know how to get involved in decisions affecting their local area 

How have we done? 30.76% 

A total of 30.76% either strongly agreed or tended to agree 
that they know how to get involved in decisions. The question 
was changed for the 2018 survey and is not comparable to 
previous results. 

Trend rating: N/A 

Target for 2018/19: Monitor only 

Whilst an increase is desirable, there is no specific target for 
this individual question in the staff survey. 

Target rating: N/A 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Strongly agree Tend to agree Tend to disagree Strongly disagree Neither agree nor

disagree/don't

know

% of Plymouth City Survey respondents who know how to 

get involved in decisions affecting their local area



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 35 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of Children’s Social Care (CSC) complaints that are responded to within expected timescales (20 working days). 
Responses to CSC are dealt with solely by Plymouth City Council. 

Why we measure it: People accessing Children’s Social Care services are some of the most vulnerable people in the city. For this reason it is 
extremely important that we respond to complaints in a timely manner. This indicator allows us to assess how well we are performing in this area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The performance against both target and the previous quarter is of concern. However, we will shortly have a member of staff 
returning from secondment to the PCC complaints team to boost capacity in dealing with CSC specific complaints.  

What are we worried about? There is a green risk on the operational risk register that relates to Children’s Services only. In quarter one, 29 
children and young people complaints were received, 23% of which were closed within the expected timescales.  

What needs to happen? The loss of capacity with the Children’s complaints team has now been filled and performance should improve. We continue 
to hold conversations with Livewell Southwest regarding Adult Social Care (ASC) complaints and will begin to monitor performance against this indicator at 
provider performance meetings. LWSW will now be the single source of ASC complaints information into the Council and as a matter of urgency we will be 
working with the Plymouth City Council complaints team to agree this process.   

Providing quality public services 
Statutory complaints completed within timescales 

How have we done? 23% 

Decline of 27 percentage points from quarter four 2017/18, 
which is a decline of 54%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: 95%  

The decline in quarter four now puts performance at 76 
percentage points (80%) below the target. 

Target rating: Red 
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of CSC complaints closed within timeframe

2017/18 2018/19 Target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 36 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: Employees’ level of engagement and general satisfaction with working within their service. This is derived from a subset of 
questions from the annual staff survey. 

Why we measure it: We want our employees to be engaged as this is an indication of their happiness and wellbeing. Employees who are engaged are 
more motivated, committed and fulfilled with their work, and help to drive organisational productivity and better customer experience. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What’s working well? The staff engagement score for 2017 was 67%, which is 3 percentage points higher than the previous year and the highest that it 
has been since the survey was introduced in 2013. This suggests that staff are feeling more valued by their employer and more engaged with their work. 

What are we worried about? Although 67% is higher than in previous years and 2 percentage points above the 2017/18 target of 65%, this leaves 
33% of employees who took the survey who did not feel engaged. Additionally, the response rate for the survey was above the LG benchmark (59.80%) at 
60.52%, but again this leaves almost 40% of employees who did not complete it. The reasons for non-response are not known. Staff engagement is associated 
with the risk of ineffective employee relations due to failure to work jointly with the trade unions, professional associates and employees to deliver 
transformational change leading to disputes and disharmony. At quarter one 2018/19, this risk was RAG-rated as green on the operational risk register, 
indicating a low risk to the Council.  

What needs to happen? The next staff survey will take place in November 2018 and the results will be released early in 2019. Directorates have 
reviewed the results of the staff survey for their areas and embedded actions into their business plans to address the feedback.

Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce 
Staff engagement 

How have we done? 67% 

Increase of 3 percentage points from the previous survey in 
2016, which is an increase of 4.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 65% 

The increase in 2017 puts performance at 2 percentage points 
(3.1%) above the target. 

Target rating: Green 

58%

60%

62%

64%

66%

68%

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

% of staff engaged

2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 37 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The average number of days taken as sick leave per full-time equivalent employee, calculated as a rolling 12 month average. 
Sickness data includes days lost due to physical and mental ill-health, as well as injuries, and both short- and long-term sickness absences. 

Why we measure it: Sickness figures give an indication of the health and wellbeing of our workforce and enable managers to implement effective 
procedures to support the needs of employees. Any employee absence is also associated with a cost to the organisation, which needs to be monitored.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? After an increase in the number of days taken as sick leave throughout 2017/18, the decrease of 0.52 days in quarter one has 
moved performance to below the target for Plymouth City Council as a whole. The sickness target varies across different services within the Council due to 
the nature of work that employees do, i.e., services that have a focus on physical labour will have higher sickness targets than those that consist of mainly 
desk-based roles. 

What are we worried about? The 7.20 days for quarter one gives an overall view of sickness absence for the Council. There were however wide 
variations between different services within the Council, ranging from 2.16 days to 12.26 days per full-time equivalent employee. The Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing risk register includes operational risks around staff exposure to physical ergonomics hazards (e.g. incorrect manual handling) and staff resilience to 
causative factors of stress. Both of these are currently rated as amber, representing a medium risk to the Council due to the potential financial implications 
of lost working days. 

What needs to happen? Individual services should continue to monitor their rates of staff sickness and identify if additional measures need to be 
implemented to improve the health, safety and wellbeing of staff.

Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce 
Number of days taken as sick leave 

How have we done? 7.20 days 

Decrease of 0.52 days from quarter four 2017/18, which is a 
decrease of 6.7%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 7.40 days 

The decrease in quarter one puts performance at 0.20 days 
(2.7%) below the target. 

Target rating: Green 

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Average number of days taken as sick leave per full 

time equivalent employee (rolling 12 month average)

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 38 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The projected balance remaining against the budget at the end of the financial year, updated monthly. 

Why we measure it: The projection helps to forecast whether the financial position at the end of the year for the Council is likely to be an overspend 
or an underspend on the budget. By making the calculations regularly throughout the year, the expected outturn helps to highlight where corrective actions 
might be required or possible in order to bring spend in line with the budget. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? The overspend is concentrated in specific areas, meaning that some services and directorates are spending in line with their 
budgets. The Office of the Director of Public Health and Place directorates have a year end variation of £0 at the end of quarter one. Budget figures are 
available monthly so that any areas of concern can be identified quickly and corrective actions taken. For example, forecasted overspend was £4.498m in May 
2018 but down to £2.882m by the end of June. Average borrowing rate is also performing well, at 2.23% against a target of 3.00%. Average investment return 
represents the amount of profit made as a percentage of the original investment and is consistently close to the target of 1.50%, ending quarter one on 1.46%. 

What are we worried about? The People and Transformation and Change directorates saw the biggest overspends in quarter one, with forecasted 
year end variations of £1.214m and £1.124m, respectively. This indicator is associated with a strategic risk of being unable to deliver Council services within 
the envelope of the resources provided in the 2017-20 Medium Term Financial Strategy. For quarter one 2018/19, this risk is RAG-rated as red, representing 
a serious risk to the Council and its ability to carry out its services. 

What needs to happen? Monthly financial figures will continue to be monitored to identify areas of concern, particularly concentrating on the People 
and Transformation and Change directorates. 

Spending money wisely 
Spend against budget 

How have we done? £2.882m 

Increase of £0.471m from quarter four 2017/18, which is an 
increase of 19.5%. 

Trend rating: Red 

Target for 2018/19: £0.000m 

As the target is for spend to be equal to the budget, 
performance in quarter one was £2.882m above the target. 

Target rating: Red 

Match colours to scheme. Add 

benchmarking 

0

1

2

3

4

5

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

PCC spend against budget (£m)

2017/18 2018/19



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 39 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 
What we measure: The percentage of council tax collected – this is a cumulative measure. 

Why we measure it: The percentage of council tax collected shows whether or not the Council is on track to collect all council tax by the end of the 
financial year, which contributes to the amount of money that the Council has available to spend on its services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

What’s working well? Performance has been stable for this indicator, with the percentage of council tax collected in quarter one 2018/19 being similar 
to performance in the same quarter last year, and close to the target of 28.85%. In monetary terms, £35.533 million of council tax was collected in quarter 
one, which was 28.05% of all council tax that is due to be collected before the end of the 2018/19 financial year. 

What are we worried about? Although close, the amount of council tax collected in quarter one was slightly below the target. If this gap is not 
closed in the remainder of 2018/19, there is the possibility of ending the year with a deficit. 

What needs to happen? This indicator should continue to be monitored monthly so that any changes will be identified quickly and actions can be put 
in place to ensure that the end of year target of collecting 98.50% of all council tax will be achieved.

Spending money wisely 
Percentage of council tax collected 

How have we done? 28.05% 

The proportion collected is 0.35 of a percentage point less 
than the proportion collected in quarter one 2017/18, which 
is a decrease of 1.2%. 

Trend rating: Amber 

Target for 2018/19: 98.50% (cumulative target) 

Performance for quarter one is 0.8 of a percentage point 
(2.8%) below the quarter one target of 28.85%. 

Target rating: Amber 

Match colours to scheme. Add 

benchmarking 0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of council tax collected

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 40 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

What we measure: The percentage of National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) collected against the amount due to be collected. This is a cumulative 
year to date measure. 

Why we measure it: NNDRs are more commonly known as ‘business rates’ and are charged on most properties that are used for non-domestic 
purposes, for example shops and offices. The collection of business rates represents approximately 61% of the Council’s overall income (2017/18) so it is 
important that the collection of NNDRs is monitored.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
What’s working well? Collection of business rates was a strong area for Plymouth City Council throughout 2017/18 and has continued this trend in 
quarter one 2018/19, with 38.7% collected by the end June 2018 against a target of 33.5%.  

What are we worried about? Collection of business rates is aligned with an operational risk to income from an increased reliance on business rates. 
The Revenue Support Grant is decreasing and the Council relies to a greater extent on income from business rates. The government’s Business Rate 
Retention Pilot is in operation for one year but there is uncertainty as to whether this will be extended. This operational risk is currently RAG-rated as 
amber, representing a medium risk to the Council. 

What needs to happen? The team should continue to monitor their collection of business rates in line with the target. 

Spending money wisely 
Percentage of business rates collected 

How have we done? 38.7% 

Increase of 3.3 percentage points from the same period last 
year, which is an increase of 9.3%. 

Trend rating: Green 

Target for 2018/19: 98.0% (cumulative target) 

Performance in quarter one is 5.2 percentage points (15.5%) 
above the quarter one target of 33.5%. 

Target rating: Green 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cumulative % of National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 

collected

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 target



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 41 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

 
Why we report it: The Offers and Asks is our way of influencing the Government on what we need for the city. The ‘Ask’ is updated regularly and is 
also used to advise and inform Plymouth’s three Members of Parliament (MPs). This is a qualitative indicator only. 

What’s working well? We have a public affairs approach in place to ensure that the ‘Ask’ is our consistent message on topical and urgent issues for the 
city. This process includes sharing with local MPs and is a vehicle for the provision of information on and the background to issues, ensuring that MPs are 
equipped with the tools they need to help raise issues for the city. The ‘Ask’ is also a key contributor of information to One Plymouth and ensures that 
messages are consistent among senior leaders in the city, for example the Chief Executive of University Hospitals Plymouth, the Vice Chancellor of Plymouth 
University and the Chief Constable. 

A multi-disciplinary approach draws in knowledge and experience from across the local authority. It is this approach that ensures we have the best 
intelligence to enable us to identify key issues, in particular any impacts on services locally.  

What are we worried about? We have in place a ‘tube map’ that maps out significant calendar dates that contribute to the process. It is crucial that 
this tube map is regularly updated and is sustainable to help mitigate the risk of missing key issues. Significant issues that have figured in recent Asks include 
the improvements to the A38, the Peninsula Rail Taskforce, and the Protection of Devonport’s amphibious fleet.  

What needs to happen? The tube map and our multi-disciplinary approach strengthen and ensure a more systematic process and help to schedule 
messages. We need to ensure that regular multi-disciplinary input is sought in order to keep the tube map up to date and to continue weekly horizon 
scanning via Policy briefs, which is often the start of the process of identifying content. 

A strong voice for Plymouth regionally and nationally 
Offers and Asks  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 42 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

Why we report it: This provides a qualitative update on how well we work with our partners and neighbouring councils, as well as how we promote 
our regional leadership role.  

What’s working well? The Chief Executive of Plymouth City Council is the programme lead for the Heart of the South West partnership (HoTSW), 
which involves working alongside councils in Devon and Somerset, National Parks, the Local Economic Partnership, and Clinical Commissioning Groups. The 
partnership has established itself as a joint committee which formalises the work of the partnership, and has recently launched a HoTSW Productivity 
Strategy. The HoTSW area has been designated by the Government as being one of nine areas that will work with the Government on developing a local 
industrial strategy. This will allow us to increase our influence in making key decisions that impact on the area and help to shape the new funding that will 
replace European funding streams.  

The Strategic Director of Place chairs the ADEPT regional group, which is looking at setting up a sub-national transport body including Cornwall and Dorset 
local authorities. The Transport body has been the subject of a ‘Plymouth Ask’ highlighting the link between the ‘Plymouth Ask’ and our influence in other 
regional groups.  

What are we worried about? Local Economic Partnerships are to have an increasing influence following a Government review. One of our priorities 
will be to ensure that the influence of local authorities is not diminished.  

What needs to happen? Making sure that the joint committee functions well, is effective, and has a strong relationship with Local Economic 
Partnerships, ensuring clarification of working relationships and that we have the right skills and resources in place to support.

A strong voice for Plymouth regionally and nationally 
Regional influence 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT, QUARTER ONE 2018/19       Page 43 of 43 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

This report was produced by the Plymouth City Council Performance and Risk Team. For further information, please contact: 

Andrew Loton 

Senior Performance Advisor 

Chief Executive Office 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

West Hoe Road 

Plymouth 

PL1 3BJ 

 

andrew.loton@plymouth.gov.uk 

 

Further Information 





Page 1 of 10 
 

JULY 2018 FINANCE MONITORING – REPORT FOR CMT 

Table 1: Revenue Monitoring Position 

Directorate 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Gross Income 

2018/19 Latest 

Approved 

Budget 

Forecast 

Outturn 

Forecast Year 

End Variation 

Movement 

from Quarter 

1 Cabinet 

Report 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Executive Office 4.546 (0.167) 4.379 4.478 0.099 0.000 

Corporate Items 7.136 (12.269) (5.133) (4.688) 0.445 0.000 

Transformation and Change 131.728 (95.649) 36.079 37.203 1.124 0.000 

People Directorate 255.617 (130.992) 124.625 125.839 1.214 0.000 

Office of the Director of Public Health 19.456 (19.141) 0.315 0.315 0.000 0.000 

Place Directorate 79.769 (54.479) 25.290 25.290 0.000 0.000 

TOTAL 498.254 (312.698) 185.556 188.438 2.882 (0.000) 

 

 

Table 2: Plymouth Integrated Fund 

Plymouth Integrated Fund 2018/19 Budget 2018/19 Forecast 
Year End Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

  £m £m £m 

New Devon CCG – Plymouth locality 482.615 482.615 0.000 

Plymouth City Council * 251.664 252.878 1.214 

TOTAL 734.279 735.493 1.214 

The financial position above for the Plymouth Integrated Fund is for the 2018/19 month 4 position, and before any risk share. 

 

 *This represents the net People Directorate budget plus the gross Public Health Commissioning budget (which is financed by a ring fenced 

Department of Health Grant). 

 



Page 2 of 10 
 

 

Table 3: Key Issues and Corrective Actions 

Issue 

 

Variation 

£M 

Management Corrective Action 

 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE 0.099 

 

The department recognises the budget pressure for 2018/19 and also notes 

strong predicted income generation over target. Forensic examination of all 

budgets has already been undertaken. The next step is to instigate an ‘end-to-

end’ review process to inform likely service review with a view to reducing 

establishment. Given strength in predicted income generation, focussed areas 

of new business development will also be pursued (e.g. school exclusions 

administration and at least one additional governance contract).  

 

CORPORATE ITEMS  0.445 

 

This is due to the deficit in the Pension fund.  Efforts are being made to 

reduce the deficit but a pressure currently remains.  This includes working 

with colleagues at Devon County Council, the pension fund administrators.  

 
The Council is currently managing a number of public liability insurance 

claims.  If all claims are fully paid there are insufficient funds in the reserve to 

meet all liabilities.  Officers continue to work to mitigate these claims; to 

ensure that losses are minimised.  At this stage if nothing else changes and 

based on past trends a deficit of approximately £0.2m will have to be 

covered. 

 

 TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – Finance 0.285 

 

There are pressures in Facilities Management; £0.095m due to the pay award 

in line with Living Wage.  The provision created to meet the costs of the pay 

award was allocated but this has left an unfunded element in the FM service 

due to the make - up of the staff profile.   

 

There is also a pressure of £0.190m from an income target against Schools 

cleaning which is unlikely to be met due to schools withdrawing as they move 

to Academies. A revised FM structure is being drawn up to enable the 



Page 3 of 10 
 

pressure to be eliminated. 

 

A review is now underway to deliver the savings required to offset this 

pressure. 

 

Within Treasury Management 14 local authorities are taking legal action 

against Barclays Bank in connection with their LIBOR ‘rigging’ and the 

connection to the rate setting for LOBO loans.  The Council will monitor 
this action to see if there are any opportunities to refinance our LOBOs. 

 

As expected the Bank of England increased the bank rate from 0.25% to 

0.75%.  The market is predicting a gradual increase in the base rate over the 

next 2 years. The Council has profited from very low interest rates on its 

short term loans but a 0.25% increase will cost the Council an additional 

£0.625m per year.  

 

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – Legal 0.000 There is currently a nil variance to report. 

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – Customer 

Services 
0.355 

 

There is a pressure of £0.305m because of a shortfall in Housing Benefit 

Subsidy and £0.050m pressure due to an unfunded increase in Bank Charges 

for the Council. The contract with the bank is being renegotiated to address 

the charges.  

 

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – Service 

Centre 
0.484 

As outlined in the MTFS there is a savings target against the Service Centre 

that remains a challenge.  The project team are seeking solutions to address 

this with the focus being on apportioning it to the relevant service areas. 

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – Human 

Resources & OD 
0.000 There is currently a nil variance to report. 



Page 4 of 10 
 

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – Departmental 0.000 There is currently a nil variance to report. 

 

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – ICT 

Commissioned Service 

 

0.000 There is currently a nil variance to report. 

 

PEOPLE 

Children Young People and Families (CYPF) 

 

The Children, Young People and Families Service are 

reporting a budget pressure of £0.580m at month 4 – no 

change from the previous month. The overspend can be 
attributed to the increased cost and volume of looked after 

children’s placements.  

The national and local context for children’s placements is 

extremely challenging, with increasing difficulties in securing 

appropriate, good quality placements.  

High demand and limited supply of placements, a tightening of 

Ofsted requirements, as well as initiatives such as the 

introduction of the National Living Wage, have all led to an 

increase in the unit costs of placements. 

 

As part of the MTFS for 2018/19, CYP&F are expected to 

make savings of over £1.872m (in order to contribute to the 

£5.485m Directorate target) as well as £2.783m of savings 

brought forward from 2017/18 that were realised from one 

off savings and will need to be realised in this financial year. 

The savings plans are currently red and amber. 

There are risks that continue to require close monitoring and 

management:  

 Increased cost and volume of young people’s placements 
since budget setting autumn 2018. 

 Lack of immediate availability of the right in-house foster 

 

 

 

 

0.580 

 

 

 

 

There is no change to previous reported overspend. The quarterly star 

chamber exercise has resulted in (£0.331m) saving, this, together with a 

number of assumptions being made going forward, has an outcome of the 

following actions. 

 Tightening of the front door for LAC - Action only HOS 

Children’s Social work and Permanence can give consent for 

anyone to be accommodated and in her absence Service 

Director will cover.  

 Fortnightly placement review to ensure step down of high cost 

placements  

 Focused deep dives into 16-18 years olds and care leavers 
placement costs with view to reduce cost  

 Review of staying put arrangements and financial remuneration   

 Reviewing all Section 20 arrangement (voluntary care) 

 Maximise contribution from partners - Health and Education 

Action Complete required Health tool for all Residential 

placements. Review elements of contracts to ensure 

Education element is recharged correctly 

 Service Director persistently raising matter of budgetary 
pressures at all staff meetings to ensure only essential 

expenditure and actions taken in a timely manner. 



Page 5 of 10 
 

care placements creating overuse of IFA’s. 

 There are still a number of individual packages of care at 
considerably higher cost due to the needs of the young 

person. 

 Regional wide commissioning activity did not bring about 

the anticipated holding and reduction of placement costs 

in both the residential and IFA sectors. 

 There are currently 37 Residential Placements with 
budget for only 36 

 There are 23 Supported Living Placements with budget 

for 15. 

 A region wide lack of placements due to an increase in 
demand for placements, both national and regionally 

continues to impact negatively on sufficiency  

 There has been a 10.64% increase in looked after children 

since June 2017, which compares to an 11.3% increase in 

the South West Region March 2017 - March 2018.  

 

 

The overall number of children in care at the end of July 

stands at 430.  

 

The number of children placed with independent fostering 

agencies stands at 122 against a target budget of 119 

placements.  Residential placements stands at 37 against a 

target of 36 budgeted placements with a number of these 

placements being high cost due to the complex nature of 

these children’s needs. There is currently one young person 

placed in ‘welfare’ secure. 
 

The In-House Foster Care placements have 176 including 

connected carer’s placements against a target budget of 200 

placements. There are no In House Parent & Child 

Assessment Placement, 1 court ordered Independent foster 

 Director & Finance Review all Financial Assumptions  
 

A piece of work has been undertaken to ensure a systematic review of all 

young people in supported living and new arrangements for plans for them 

are in place. This will ensure appropriate plans are in place for young people 

improving timeliness and reducing cost pressure. 

 

 

A new commissioned piece of work has been put in place for Young Devon 

to increase the number of supported lodgings beds (both standard and 

enhanced), with a small investment from CYPF to pump prime this work. 

This will achieve 15 new supported lodgings beds and 10 new Plan B 

(enhanced supported lodgings; useful for step-down from residential beds). 

This would substantially increase the available beds – currently 20 on the 

block contract. Supported lodgings offers good value for money for our 

young people at approximately £250 a week, with a focus on progress to 

independence. 

 

Extensive work is underway to review all placements in order to reduce the 

pressure on cost and volume where appropriate. 

 

 

Commissioners continue to work with colleagues in the peninsula to increase 

the sufficiency and quality of placements available. Since 2012 when there 

were 2 residential placements available in the city we now have 14 

placements, and we expect this to continue to increase with two new solo 

homes due to be registered in spring 2018. 
 

 



Page 6 of 10 
 

care placements and 3 high cost Residential placements. We 

currently have 23 Supported Living Placements with budget 

for 15.However, 40% of the placements are at a substantially 

high cost due to the complex nature of the placement.  

 

 

PEOPLE – Strategic Commissioning 

 

The Strategic Commissioning service is forecasting an 

adverse variation to year end of £0.530m, no change from 

month 3.  The major pressures going into 2018/19 are still 

around increases in high cost packages and increases in client 

numbers, especially in the following areas: 
 

   

  Variation Budgeted 

Client Nos 

Actual 

Client Nos 

Mth 4 

Dom Care £0.469 1192 1254 

Supported Living £0.460 551 584 

Short Stays £0.267 60 72 

Res & Nursing £1.180 983 1027 

Additional Income relating 
to Care Packages 

(£1.124)     

 

0.530 

 

 

 

There are management actions currently being put in place to try to reduce 

the variation in year, with a number of “deep dives” taking place into the 

areas currently overheating, for example: 

 Residential & Nursing – review of very high cost clients and 
transitions, review of admissions and discharges, 

 Supported Living – focus on Trusted Provider scheme, review 

of single handed project, 

 Dom Care – review of single handed project, review of 
reablement contract, 

 Short Stays – review of any short stay clients that have been in 

placements for over 1 month. 

 

As part of the MTFS for 2018/19, Strategic Commissioning have assumed that 

savings of £2.546m (in order to contribute to the £2.914m People 

directorate target) will be achieved, as well as £2.248m of savings brought 

forward from 2017/18 that were realised from one off savings and need to be 

achieved in this financial year.  At this stage, part of the savings that have 

been assumed as achieved are around care packages. At month four it has 

been identified that approximately 600k of these are high risk and further 
work is being undertaken to bring down the risk and bring forward additional 

plans if required. 

 

 

PEOPLE – Education Participation and Skills 
 

Education, Participation and Skills budget is forecast to 

0.000 

 

 
 

A plan is being developed to scope all of the education related services within 



Page 7 of 10 
 

balance to budget at year end.  

 

As part of the MTFS for 2018/19, Education Participation and 

Skills is expected to make savings of over £0.699m (in order 

to contribute to the £5.485m Directorate target) as well as 

£0.687m of savings brought forward from 2017/18 that were 

realised from one off savings and will need to be realised in 

this financial year.   In addition the Adult Community Meals 
pressure of £0.130m still remains within Education 

Participation and Skills. 

 

Education, Participation and Skills and recommend an approach and plan for 

transforming in order to realise savings. 

 

PEOPLE – Community Connections  
 

Community Connections is reporting a pressure of £0.104m 

at Month 4.   

 

Average Bed & Breakfast numbers for April to July have been 

57 placements per night with a reduction in Housing Benefit 

income due to the change to the claiming through the 

universal credit system.  

 

Cost pressure for further reducing average placements by 15 

from the current 57 to 42 per night is £0.104m, which the 

service is targeting to reduce with use of alternative 

properties provided through existing contracts as well as use 

of additional contracted staff to target single occupancy stays. 

The service is also dedicating more resource to encourage 

clients to complete universal credit claims to increase the 

Housing Benefit received.  

 

 

As part of the MTFS for 2018/19, Community Connections is 

expected to make savings of over £0.368m (in order to 

contribute to the £5.485m Directorate target) as well as 

0.104 

 

 
 

Action is ongoing to limit the overall cost pressure through lower placements 

and prevention work.   

 



Page 8 of 10 
 

£0.291m of savings brought forward from 2017/18 that were 

realised from one off savings and will need to be realised in 

this financial year.  

 

People Management & Support  

 

The People Management & Support budget is forecast to 

balance to budget at year end, as per the reporting in 

previous months. 
 

0.000 

 

 

Office of the Director of Public Health 

 

The budget for the Office of the Director of Public Health 
(ODPH) is expected to come in on budget for 2018/19.  The 

budget is made up of the grant funded Public Health, Public 

Protection Service and Bereavement Services, of which the 

grant funded section of Public Health forms part of the 

Integrated Fund. 

There has been a reduction in the Public Health grant 

received in 2018/19 of £0.405m from 2017/18, which will be 

contained by a variety of management actions, mainly around 

the contracts that are held within the department. 

The Public Protection service, funded from RSG and other 

income streams, are showing a break even position at this 

point in the year.   

 

The Bereavement Service, is showing an increase in the 

numbers of cremations budgeted for at this point in the year, 

although any surpluses from this service are ring-fenced and 

cannot be counted towards any favourable variations for the 

Directorate.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.000 

 

 

 

 



Page 9 of 10 
 

 

PLACE - Strategic Planning and Infrastructure 

 

The Service Management Team continue to actively monitor 

the overall departmental budget proactively as well as the 

agreed 2018/2019 Budget Review actions.  Although the 

department continues to carry pressures, no specific actions 

are required at this stage of monitoring.  
 

0.000 
Efforts will continue to be taken to maximise income and reasonably contain 

costs. 

 

PLACE - Management Support (Director’s budget) 

  

Overall Place monitoring on-going will need to contain 
Management efficiencies by reducing costs and potential 

income opportunities. 

 

0.000 

Budget contains two efficiency targets – GAME staffing £0.134m and 

additional efficiencies which total £0.288m.  We will be reviewing existing 

budgets and exploring all options for increased income and reduced costs in 
order to achieve these targets. 

 

PLACE - Economic Development   
 

Forecast income generation from Asset Investment Fund 

acquisitions have enabled a number of expected spend 

pressures within Economic Development to be met.  This 

includes earmarking resources to meet a potential net 

overspend linked to Events and additional costs such as 

enhanced security. 

0.000 

 
It is expected that a further Event pressure, currently under review in July 

2018, will be met from future net Asset Investment Fund income, likely to be 

forecast in August 2018. This income is expected from two new acquisitions, 

due to complete in August 2018. 

 

PLACE – GAME 

 

The New Homes Bonus target has already been achieved for 

17/18 

 

0.000  



Page 10 of 10 
 

PLACE - Street Services 

 

Street Scene & Waste services: 

Street Scene & Waste are currently reporting to budget. 

 

Fleet and Garage: 

 

Fleet & Garage is currently reporting to budget. 

 

Highways and Car Parking: 

Highways are currently reporting to budget. 

 

 

0.000 

 

 

0.000 

 

 

0.000 

 

 

 
 

As part of the Street Services Improvement plan; we will examine and bring 

forward options to maximise income and reasonably contain costs whilst 

recognising the need to deliver high quality services 

 

 

 

 

 

TOTAL 2.882  

 

Summary 

 

The position for month 4 has not changed from the quarter one forecast positon reported to Cabinet therefore showing a £2.882m forecast 

overspend for the council. The comparable figure last year was £4.922m forecast overspend.    

 

There has been no change to the forecast overspend projected for Corporate Items and within the Transformation and Change Directorate, 

although work is continuing to reorganise FM services to achieve sustainable savings going forward.  Pressures have been identified with the 

Executive Office and People Directorate.  Place are reporting a balanced position.  

 

The ongoing financial challenges the council faces continue and a concerted effort is required to deliver all savings plans and where appropriate 

develop new plans.  

 

The volatility within a number of services cannot be underestimated.  This is highlighted within Children’s services where the forecast position 

is predicated on a number of assumptions and the requirement to deliver a number of actions as set out within the report. 

 

The Council’s General Fund working balance currently stands at £9.168m.  The current forecast overspend of £2.882m would significantly 

reduce the General Fund working balance by over 30% and places the Council at risk should this not be contained within the agreed budget 

limits.  The Council has no other sources of revenue funds to cover this position.   



Performance, Finance and Customer 
Focus Overview Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme 2018-2019

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at 
short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to be of strategic 
relevance.

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s work 
programme, please contact Helen Prendergast, Democratic Adviser on 01752 304022.

Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Corporate Finance 
Monitoring Report Q4 and 

Outturn
(5)

To monitor the Council’s financial 
position and identify areas of concern 

for further scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Andrew 

Hardingham

27 June 2018

Corporate Monitoring Q4 (5)
To monitor the Council’s performance, 
and identify areas of concern for further 

scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Siân 

Millard/Andrew 
Loton

8 August 
2018

Debt Recovery and 
Enforcement (5) To review the Council’s process for 

Debt Recovery

Councillor 
Penberthy/Councillor 

Lowry/Andrew 
Hardingham/Emma 

Rose

Waste and Disposal
(Pledges 90/93/94) (4)

Receive an update on waste collection 
and disposal Councillor Dann/Lou 

Hayward

Tree Maintenance (Pledges 13 
and 98) (4) To review the work being undertaken to  

reduce the backlog of Tree Works

Councillor Dann/Lou 
Hayward

Corporate Monitoring Q1 (5)
To monitor the Council’s performance, 
and identify areas of concern for further 

scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Siân 

Millard/Andrew 
Loton

10 October 
2018

Monthly Finance Reports 
(Month 4) (5)

To monitor the Council’s financial 
position and identify areas of concern 

for further scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Paul Looby

Parking (including CPZs, 
Parking Spaces, Legacy of 

Disabled Spaces)
(Pledges 13 and 79)

(5) To review the Council’s parking 
arrangements

Councillor 
Coker/Anthony 

Payne

Corporate Finance 
Monitoring Report Q2 (5)

To monitor the Council’s performance, 
and identify areas of concern for further 

scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Andrew 

Hardingham

12 
December 

2018

Customer Experience Peer 
Review (4)

To review the recommendations from 
this Peer Review Giles Perritt



Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Corporate Monitoring Q2 (5)
To monitor the Council’s performance, 
and identify areas of concern for further 

scrutiny

Councillor 
Lowry/Siân 

Millard/Andrew 
Loton

ICT/Delt Shared Services Ltd (4)

To receive an update on the work of 
Delt Shared Services and the Council’s 

ICT requirements

Councillor Jon 
Taylor/Andrew 

Hardingham13 February 
2019

Staff Survey (4)
To identify areas of concern raised from 

the annual staff survey

Councillor Peter 
Smith/Andrew 
Hardingham

Registrar Office (3) Update on the current position 
regarding the Registrar Office

Councillor 
Haydon/Andrew 

Hardingham

Police/Safer Plymouth/ 
Community Safety (Update 

Report)
(4) To receive an update Councillor 

Haydon/Matt Garrett

20 March 
2019 Customer Services 

(Complaints/Improvement to 
Delivery of Services) (4)

To receive an update on the work 
undertaken by Customer Services, 

particularly complaints and the delivery 
services

Councillor 
Haydon/Andrew 

Hardingham

Items to be scheduled 2018/19

Customer Satisfaction Survey

Homelessness Action Plan

Site Visits

Select Committee Reviews

November
2018

Gypsies and Travellers 
Unauthorised Camps Member request

Feb 2019 Universal Credit
Recommendation from the Select 

Committee Review hold in March 2018

Joint Select Committee Reviews

January 2019 Budget Scrutiny (5) Annual review of budget

Leader/Cabinet 
Member for Finance 
/Strategic and Service 

Directors

TBC Homelessness

Councillor 
Penberthy/Carole 

Burgoyne/Matt 
Garrett



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Tracking Decisions

Tracking Decisions – 10 October 2018 Official

Minute No. Decisions Target Date, Officer 
Responsible and Progress

27 June 2018

Corporate 
Finance 
Monitoring 
Report Q4 
and Outturn

Minute 5

Due to the financial implications for Plymouth, the Committee agreed to recommend to 
Cabinet that –

(1) It writes to the Government seeking –

 Clarification on whether the 100% Business Rates Retention pilot scheme 
would be extended for a further year (2019/20), or whether it would end after 
one year;

 An assurance that notification on the continuation or succession of the pilot 
scheme would be early in the autumn (October).

Cabinet response to the recommendation –

Paul Looby (Head of Financial Planning and Reporting) and Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet 
member for Finance) introduced the report.  It was highlighted that –

 the Government have proposed a new pilot from the 1 Aril 2019 for 75% business 
rates;

 the potential impact of not being renewed into the business rates pilot scheme.

For the reasons set out in the report Cabinet agreed –

1. to approve the recommendation from the Performance, Finance and Customer Focus 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, held on 27 June 2018.

Complete

Date:  August 2018
Officer: Helen Prendergast
Progress:  The 
recommendation was 
considered at Cabinet in 
August 2018 and was 
approved.



Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Tracking Decisions

Tracking Decisions – 10 October 2018 Official

8 August 2018

Debt 
Recovery and 
Enforcement

Minute12

The Committee agreed  that the following recommendations are submitted to Cabinet for 
consideration –

1. a feasibility study is commissioned in order to create a corporate approach to 
maximise debt recovery, including such areas as high value debt; 

2. efforts are made to identify the forms of debt (excluding those who have been 
identified as unable to pay) that are most likely to lead to high recovery rates (in 
volume and value), in order that resources can be prioritised to focus on the areas 
identified;

3. monitor the ethical debt recovery pilot schemes being undertaken in other local 
authorities and provide an update report in 12 months’ time;

4. investigate the feasibility of providing debt collect in-house.

Date:  November 2018
Officer: Helen Prendergast
Progress: 
Recommendations will be 
submitted to Cabinet at its 
meeting on 13 November 
2018.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Street Services Key Performance Indicators including an Update on Pledges 90, 93 and 94 and Tree Maintenance including an Update on Pledge 98
	FINAL - Street Services Performance Briefing  V1

	6 Corporate Plan 2018-22 - Quarter One 2018/19 Update
	Corporate Plan 2018-22 Quarter One 2018-19

	7 Finance Monthly Report - Month 4
	8 Work Programme
	9 Tracking Decisions

